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John McMahan Jr.

John has been reported to have lived in Bryan(t) Station in Kentucky in the years before Kentucky became independent of Virginia. 
  A John McMachan (also Mcmachan and McMacham) and a Samuel McMahan are mentioned in the “Account Book of ___ Bryan.”
  From this, it appears that the men were at least in the vicinity of Bryan(t) Station.  Neither is identified as being among those at Bryan(t) Station, however. 

Other sources have John and family at Boonesborough in Kentucky.  He is not included on the list of those at Fort Boonesborough, either.

Some sources say that John returned to Rowan County, North Carolina, from Kentucky, remarried, prospered, and had a son David McMahan with his second wife.  John’s Rowan County last will and testament only mentions his son David.   If he was indeed the father of four other, older sons, they could have come to Rowan County and challenged his last will and testament.  To prevent that, it would have been expected that he would have mention the other sons in his last will and testament and would have given them at least token bequests, that is, if he had other sons.  The fact that he did not mention any other children in his last will and testament makes John McMahan, the father of David, a poor candidate for being the father of four other sons.  
23 May 1741.   John was born. 

13 Feb. 1771.  Son James was born.  He married Letitia Asbury on 31 Dec. 1797 in Kentucky.
About 1773.  Son Jesse was born.  He married Polly Fox.
25 Jan. 1776.  Son William was born.  He married Mary McMahan.
4 Apr. 1780.  Son John was born.  He married Susannah McMahan.
33
???

The spouse of John McMahan Jr. is sometimes identified as Sarah (“Sallie”) Boone, a daughter of Israel Boone and a niece of Daniel Boone.  She was born in 1754 in Rowan County, North Carolina,
 and reportedly died in 1810
 (other death dates have also been given for her).  Her parents died when she was very young.  She is said to have been raised by her paternal aunt, Elizabeth (Boone) Grant, and she was reportedly referred to sometimes in family documents as Sallie Grant.

One fly in the ointment is the fact that the Boone family holds that Sarah, daughter of Israel, died before puberty.  She cannot, according to them, have married anyone and had children. Also, Sarah/Sallie Grant was a daughter (and not a niece) of Elizabeth (Boone) Grant who is known to have married and to have had children.  She did not marry a McMahan.
A further fly in the ointment is a faded and difficult to read letter written to Lyman C. Draper by Thomas M. McMahan of Lamine, Cooper County, Missouri, dated 12[?]th Dec. 1883, which says, in part,







                 I saw his sons twice

… that I only saw Daniel Boone and his sons ˘ once when I was a boy  I had no conversation with them  I only know that he was very old …

I would refer you for further information to Ephraham McLane Arrow Rock Saline Co. Mo  I think he can give you the information you want  if not I fear you cannot get it as I know of no one else that would be as likely to know as him. …







Yours truly







Thomas M. McMahan







Lamine P.O.[?]







Cooper County







Mo

If some of his McMahan cousins were Israel Boone descendants, why did he not refer Lyman Draper to one or more of them?  Surely some of them would have known Daniel, and Thomas should have had at least a passing acquaintance with them. 

Countering all this are the following:
· A statement by William Bryan and Robert Rose in their 1876 book, A History of the Pioneer Families of Missouri, that says that “John McMahan, Jr., of Ireland … married a daughter of Israel Boone, a brother of Daniel Boone … .” 

· A handwritten document by Susan Moseley Woodroof, dated 27 November 1914, that says, in part, that “Jesse McMahan’s mother was Sally Boone daughter of Israel Boone -- a brother of Daniel (Birth dates lacking).” 
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Thomas MCMAHAN
15 Feb. 1747.  Birth of Thomas McMahan.
  

The DAR accepts Thomas as the son of William McMahan and Susan Margaret (maiden name unknown).  William McMahan was reportedly born in Ireland in about 1725, served during the Revolutionary War as a Private in the Westmoreland County, Pennsylvania, militia, and died in Westmoreland County.   He reportedly married Susan Margaret (surname unknown) in Ireland in 1746.   She was reported to have been born in Ireland in 1728 and to have died in Westmoreland County in 1793.
  No evidence was provided in support of these claims, however.  The original DAR claimant submitted two Revolutionary War ancestors, but documented only one (the claim of descent from William McMahan was not documented).  Subsequent claimants have used the original’s accepted application as their proof.  

Also according to the DAR, Thomas McMahan, Sr., was himself a Revolutionary War Patriot.
  There was indeed a Thomas McMahan who served as a Corporal with the 3rd Virginia Regiment during the Revolutionary War.
  It is possible that this person and Thomas McMahan, Sr., are one and the same.  That, however, has not been proven.

The evidence that Thomas is the son of James McMahan and Susannah Hildebrand(t) of Rowen County, North Carolina, is circumstantial.  Their son Thomas was mentioned in James’s last will and testament.  Based on the ages of their other sons, their Thomas and the one who was Eunice’s ancestor were close in age.  Also, Eunice’s Thomas married Diana Adams, whose parents lived in Rowan County from at least 1770 (first purchase of land) to 1792 (when that land was sold), so her Thomas has a connection to Rowan County.  In fact, both James McMahan and Abraham Adams, Diana’s father, lived on Dutchman’s Creek in Rowan County, according to land records.  This makes it even more likely that the Thomas McMahan who married Diana Adams was a son of James McMahan.
Circa 1770.  Married Diana Adams (based on marriage date of first child) probably in Rowen County, North Carolina (based on home of Diana’s parents).

Circa 1770-1774.  Birth of daughter Elizabeth McMahan (based on her marriage date).  Elizabeth married David McGee on 20 Dec. 1794 in Madison County, Kentucky.

1772.  A Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Rowan County, North Carolina, with Patrick Bates.

1774.  Birth of son Samuel McMahan in “Clark County,” Kentucky.
  It is more likely that Samuel was born in Rowan County, North Carolina.  Samuel married Sarah (“Sally”) Clark on 28 Oct. 1802 in Madison County, Kentucky.

Samuel was reportedly killed by Indians.  According to the History of Saline County,

He had crossed the recrossed the river to get his cattle, and while driving them to the river, the Indians (who were on the lookout for a man named Mukchax) saw him, and opened fire on him.  His horse fell, shot under him.  He started to run, but hearing the voice of the chief, whom he knew, and supposed to be friendly, he halted and turned around.  As he faced them the Indians shot him dead.  His body, cut into several pieces and scalped, was recovered, and buried at Boonesville. 
   

According to the Portrait and Biographical Record of Lafayette and Saline Counties,

[He] was killed by the savage Indians on his return home from Booneville, whither he had gone on important business.  He was shot down by the Indians concealed in ambush.  His body was found the next day faithfully guarded from the wild beasts by his two noble dogs, who kept their lonely vigil until the remains were discovered.  It was supposed the Indians were creeping toward two men who were cutting honey out of the trees, and who ran for their lives when they heard the report of the shots.
 

Elsewhere in the Portrait and Biographical Record of Lafayette and Saline Counties, the report was 
[H]e drove a herd of cattle to Coles Fort, and while on his return trip to his family, was brutally waylaid and slain by the Indians, about two miles from Booneville, Cooper County.
 
Samuel has the unique distinction of being buried somewhere on the old Missouri State Fair grounds.  The exact location of his grave has been lost.

16 Jan. 1777.  Birth of daughter Mary McMahan in “Clark County,” Kentucky.
  It is more likely that Mary was born in Rowan County, North Carolina.  Mary married William McMahan on 19 May 1797 in Clark County, Kentucky.

1778.  A Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Rowan County, North Carolina, with a tax bill of 1 pound, 1 shilling, 8 pence.

4 Mar. 1783.  Birth of daughter Susannah McMahan.
  She married John McMahan on 14 Oct. 1802 in Madison County, Kentucky.

29 May 1786.  Birth of Thomas McMahan Jr.   Thomas Jr. was married to Margaret Jones.
  

1787.  Thomas Machan appears on the tax lists of Fayette County, Kentucky, with 4 horses and 15 head of cattle.
  The number of cattle is close to that that Thomas McMahan had in Fayette County in 1789.  It is likely that Thomas Machan is Thomas McMahan.
About 1789.  Birth of James B. McMahan.  James B. married Helena Jones. 

1789.   Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Fayette County, Kentucky, with 13 head of cattle.

1791.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Fayette County, Kentucky, with 14 head of cattle.

6 Sep. 1792.  Thomas McMahan of Fayette County, Kentucky, purchased 54 acres of land on Four Mile Creek from Nathaniel Massie of Hamilton County, Northwest Territory, on 6 Sept. 1792 for 30 pounds current money of Kentucky.  The deed was recorded on 26 March 1793.
  This land was in the part of Fayette County, Kentucky, that became Clark County in 1792/3.
1792.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Fayette County, Kentucky, with 10 horses, 14 head of cattle, and 54 acres of land.

1793.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 54 acres, 1 white male over 21, 10 horses, and 17 head of cattle.

1794.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 47(?) acres, 1 white male over 21, 10 horses, and 17 head of cattle.

1795.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 54 acres on 4 Mile Creek (according to the land book for 1795), 1 white male over 21, 10 horses, and 17 head of cattle.

1796.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 57 acres on 4 Mile Creek and 1 white male over 21.

1797.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 60 acres on 4 Mile Creek and 5 horses.

1799.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 60 acres on 4 Mile Creek, 1 white male over 21, and 6 horses.

1800.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 60 acres on 4 Mile Creek, 1 white male over 21, 1 white male between 16 and 21, and 6 horses.

1801.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 60 acres on 4 Mile Creek, 1 white male over 21, and 5 horses.

1802.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with land on 4 Mile Creek, 1 white male over 21.

1803.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with land on 4 Mile Creek, 1 white male over 21, 1 white male between 16 and 21, and 3 horses.

1804.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 60 acres on 4 Mile Creek, 1 white male over 21, 1 white male between 16 and 21, and 4 horses.

1805.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 60 acres on 4 Mile Creek, 1 white male over 21, 2 white males between 16 and 21, and 4 horses.

1806.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 60 acres on 4 Mile Creek, 2 white males over 21, 1 white male between 16 and 21, 1 slave, and 4 horses.

23 Nov. 1807.  Thomas McMahan purchased 7 acres of land on Four Mile Creek from Vincen Lister of Clark County on 23 Nov. 1807 for 7 pounds current money of Kentucky.   The deed was recorded on 23 April 1810.

1808.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 60 acres on 4 Mile Creek, 1 white male over 21, 1 white male between 16 and 21, 1 slave, and 5 horses.

1809.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 60 acres on 4 Mile Creek, 1 white male over 21, 2 slaves, and 6 horses.

1810.  Thomas McMahan appears on the tax lists of Clark County, Kentucky, with 61 acres on 4 Mile Creek, 1 white male over 21, 2 slaves, and 6 horses.

19 Oct. 1816.  Thomas and Diana McMahan, residents of Howard County, Missouri, gave Jesse McMahan, a resident of Madison County, Kentucky, Power of Attorney to collect monies due from Oswald Townsend, administrator of the estate of the late Abraham Adams.  The instrument was dated 19 Oct. 1816. 
  

1817.  Two entries for Thomas McMahan appear on the tax lists of Howard County, Missouri.
 One is likely the father and the other the son.  Prior to 1820, the area that would make up Cooper County was included in Howard County.
1819.  Thomas McMahan Sr. appears on the tax lists of Howard County, Missouri. 

15 Mar. 1821.  Died in Cooper County, Missouri.  He was buried in a grave on the family farm about four miles south of Arrow Rock, Missouri.

21 Jan. - 9 Apr. 1821.  Last will and testament of Thomas McMahan:

In the name of God, Amen, I Thomas McMahan Senr of the Arrow Rock Township in Cooper County and State of Missouri being weak in Body, but of sound mind and memory thanks be given unto God, calling unto mind the mortality of my body &c do make and Ordain this my last will and testament.  That is to say principally and first of all I give and recommend my soul into the hand of Almighty God who gave it, and my body I recommend to the Earth to be buried in decent Christian burial at the discretion of my friends.  And as touching such Worldly Estate wherewith it hath pleased God to bless me in this life I give devise and dispose of the same in the following manner and form.

First, I lend to my beloved wife Diana McMahan during her natural life the whole of my Estate real and personal for her own proper use and benefit Under the case of my Executors herein after named

Second, At the death of my Wife I will that all my personal Estate be Equally divided amongst my four children herein after named or their representatives (That is) I will that all the children of my daughter Elizabeth McGee Deceased have one childs part Equally divided amongst them.  I will that my daughter Mary McMahan have one Child part Which I give to her and her children forever, I give to the children of Son Samuel McMahan deceased one childs part of my personal Estate to be Equally divided amongst them as their property forever -- I will that my daughter Susannah McMahan shall have a childs or fourth part of my personal Estate to her and her heirs forever -- Third, after the death of my said Wife I give and bequeath unto my son Thomas McMahan my Negro man Samuel, instead of giving him any part of my personal Estate -- Which negro Samuel I give to him and his heirs forever -- Fourth, after the death of my said Wife I give and bequeath to my son James McMahan my Negro woman Edey instead of giving him any part of my personal property Which negro woman and her increase after the death of my Wife I give him and his heirs forever, but in case Either of the aforesaid negroes Samuel or Edey should die or be lost before the death of myself and wife then and in that case I will that my son Thomas or James or both as the case may be should have an Equal childs part of my personal Estate with the before named children that are to share my personal Estate or if my negro woman Edey should have any living children in the lifetime of myself or wife aforesaid I leave it with my said children to divide such increase amongst them as they may think fit & proper, or should the personal Estate amount to more by valuation at the time of the division to Each Share then [than] the value of one of the said negroes then my will is that after Each shares getting the value of one of said negroes the overplus if any be Equally divided amongst my children or their representatives as aforesaid -- And lastly I do hereby constitute and appoint my two sons Thomas McMahan and James McMahan Executors of this my last will and testament, Requesting and enjoining ? on them to faithfully Execute every part of this my Will and make all such dividends with the other heirs as are herein mentioned -- 

And I do hereby utterly disallow revoke and d? all and every other former Testaments, wills legacies bequeaths and Executors by me in anywise before named willed or bequeathed ratifying and confirming this and no other to be my last Will and testament -- In Witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and seal this twenty first day of January in the year of our Lord One Thousand Eight Hundred and twenty one

P.S, should myself or wife or both become helpless and dependant on our children I also will that the that takes care of us should be paid for their trouble out of my personal Estate before any division is further made -- Thomas McMahan {seal}

Signed and Sealed in the

presence of us who in his
>

presence and at his request 
<

and in presence of Each other
>

have hereunto set our names
<

Peyton Nowlin

Bryan T Nowlin

Peyton W Nowlin

State of Missouri 
> ss County court

Cooper County    
< April Term 1821

The last will and testament of Thomas McMahan (deceased was produced in court and on the motion of Thomas McMahan and James McMahan the Executors therein named the same was Examined and allowed and approved of by the court and proven to be the will of the said deceased as the law directs by the oathes of Peyton Nowlin Bryant Nowlin and Peyton W Nowlin Subscribing Witnesses thereto and on the motion of the said Executors therein named a certificate of probate or letters testamentary is granted thereupon their making oath and giving Bond and Security as the law directs in the clerks office vacation and the said Will is ordered to be Recorded -- A copy teste 

Robt P Clark C.C.C.C

State of Missouri
> 

County of Cooper
< SS. I certify that I recorded

the within and foregoing Will or Instrument of Writing on the 9th day of April 1821 in Book A page 7
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Diana ADAMS

20 May 1757.  Born,
 probably in the Loudoun/Fauquier County area of Virginia. 

15 Nov. 1825.  Died in Cooper County, Missouri, and was buried on the family farm, which was about four miles south of Arrow Rock, Missouri.
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Peter HUFF

Peter Huff’s ancestors are unproven.  He is believed to have lived in Bortecourt County, Virginia, and is believed to have moved from there to Tennessee with his two brothers, John and Joseph Huff.  This must be regarded with suspicion, since it is a traditional “three brother” story that genealogists find so often to be hokum.  

Some of the Virginia references below might be to another Peter Huff.

About 1750.  Born, possibly in Amsterdam, Virginia. 

1774.  Participated as a Sergeant in Lord Dunmore’s War.  As part of Captain John Lewis’s Company of Volunteers from Botetourt County, Virginia, he fought in the Battle of Point Pleasant on 10 Oct. 1774.

11 May 1779.  John Dickerson performed a survey of land on the South Fork of the Blackwater River in Botetourt County, Virginia, for Peter Huff.

1782.  Taxed for 211 acres in Botetourt County, Virginia.

1783.  First came to Tennessee.

21 Oct 1783.  Entered for 300 acres in Tennessee on east side of French Broad River opposite the mouth of the Big Pigeon River.

4 February 1784.  Received a grant for 26 acres on both sides of the South Fork of the Blackwater River in Botetourt County, Virginia, adjoining his own line.
1786.  Entered for 422 acres at Bent Mountain, Virginia.

1789.  Sold his land in Virginia to Thomas Litton.
 

17 Nov. 1790.  Granted warrant No. 2406 for 300 acres in Tennessee on east side of French Broad River opposite the mouth of the Big Pigeon River by North Carolina.

May 1793.  May Court Sessions 1793, Jefferson County, Tennessee:  
It is ordered by Court that Peter Fine, ..., Peter Huff, ... or any twelve of them view and lay off a road from the mouth of Bigg Pigeon up the south side of said river to the warr ford and report thereon to our next term Court.
 

August 1793.  August Court Sessions 1793, Jefferson County, Tennessee:  "The last will and testament of Andrew Horn deceased was proven in Court by the oaths of John Ward & Peter Huff witness thereto."
 

23 Sep. 1793.  Participated in the sale of the estate of Sam Horn.

February 1796.  February Court Sessions 1796, Jefferson County, Tennessee:  "And Peter Huff is appointed Overseer [of the road] of from thence to the mouth of Nolichucky."
 

August 1797.  August Court Sessions 1797, Jefferson County, Tennessee:  "The following grand inquest for the Body of this County appeared in Court were qualified and received their charge Viz:  Wm Horner foreman Jesse Wallace ... Peter Huff, ... & Abraham Stover."
 

About 1790 to Before 1832.  Lived on a farm near Rankin, Cocke County, Tennessee.

3 Jul. 1802.  Peter Huff joined the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee. 

31 Dec. 1803.  P. Huff and E. Campell were appointed by the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee, to invite Ben Allen and Tobias Williams to attend the next meeting of the church and to make a report themselves at the next church meeting, as well. 

 4 Aug. 1804.  “P. Huff & Absolom Huff appointed to invite Tob__W.lhelms to attend next Meeting and report theareon” by the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee. 

2 Aug. 1806.  “8s..4d..1/2 laid in by br.o Peter Huff,” the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee. 

4 Jul. 1812.  Peter Huff informed the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee, that Hosea Hampton “drank too much Spirits at last cort.” 

5 Jun. 1813.  Peter Huff and John Fine were appointed to “cite s.d Adney” to attend the next meeting of the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee. 

4 Sep. 1813.  Peter Huff and Ambrus Cobb were appointed to invite Tho. Keeney to come to the next meeting of the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee, on Saturday to “Exersise his gift.” 

30 Sep. 1815.  Peter Huff and Ezekel Campell were appointed to acquaint a member of the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church with the congregation’s displeasure and to see that he attends the next meeting.

Before 1832.  Died (daughter Lucinda Manning sold her share of her father’s estate in 1832.
)

37
Elizabeth 

Elizabeth’s surname is traditionally identified as Stephens.  There is no solid evidence for the surname.

11 Apr 1795.  Elzebeth Huff joined the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee, by experience. 
  This might be the wife of Peter Huff.  Alternatively, this might be Elizabeth, the wife of Leonard Huff. 
31 Jul 1802.  Elezebeth Huff joined the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee, by experience. 
  This is likely the wife of Peter Huff, given that Peter, himself, joined the church on 3 July 1802. 
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Almon GWINN

About 1767.  Born, 
 probably in Halifax County, Virginia (where his parents were residing).
18 Feb. 1784.  Daughter Elizabeth was born.  She died on 4 July 1860 in Saline County, Missouri.  She was buried in Good Hope Cemetery in Saline County, Missouri.  She was  married to Peter Huff, a farmer. 

14 May 1784.  Married Newraney Mullins in Charlotte County, Virginia.
 

1786.  Son Bartholomew was born  He married Susan Huff.

1788.  Daughter Patience was born.  She is believed to have married Burton Godsey. 

1789.  Son Absalom was born.  He is believed to have married Keziah Maddox.

21 July 1792.  Almon (Allman) Gwinn of Halifax County to John Phelps Jr. of same.  About 100 acres (part of larger tract surveyed for Bartlet Gwinn) for 66 pounds.  Adjacent:   Nicholas Gwinn, Fountain.  Signed:  Allman (x) Gwinn.  Wit:  Jno Phelps, William (x) Gwinn, William Phelps Sr., Elizabeth Phelps, William Phelps.  Recorded: 22 Oct. 1792.  Nurana, wife of Allman, relinquished her dower right.  (see Deed Book 15, p. 442).

1792.  Daughter Athaliah Mullins was born.  She died on 1 Sep. 1844 and is buried in Greer-Marr Cemetery, Johnson County, Missouri.  She married John Marr. 

1794.  Daughter Catey was born in Virginia. 

1797.  Son Almon was born.  He married Sarah Lillard in Cocke County, Tennessee.

14 Jul. 1798.  Almond Gwyn was received by letter into the membership of the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee.
 
1799.  Son Joshua was born.  He is believed to have married Mary Maddox.
  
1802.  Daughter Mary was born.  She is believed to have married John Copeland. 

1804.  Daughter Malinda was born.  On 17 July 1823, she married Hezekiah Copeland. 

1804/1809. Daughter Nancy Ann was born.  She married Carville Nicholas/Nickell/ Nickels/Nickols/Nickle.
  
6 Aug. 1814.  Almon Guyn to be invited to appear at a meeting of the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee, to explain his missing a meeting. 

3 Sep. 1814.  br.o [Bro.] Guyn appeared at a meeting of the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee, and explained that he should have attended the meeting but missed it because of his deafness. 

April 1817.  Almon Guyn and Joseph Huff were assigned at a meeting of the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee, to speak to Edward Millsaps and Jane Dennes about some unspecified matter. 

2 Aug. 1817.  Almon Guyn and wife Susa [sic] Guyn obtained a [dismissal] letter from the Big Pigeon Primitive Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee. 

1817.  The following is a description of the trip that Eunice Verna McMahan’s Mullins, Gwinn, and Hampton ancestors made from Tennessee to Missouri: 

Abner [MULLINS] and his sons and brothers-in-law by the names of Gwinn [including Almon] and Hampton [Hosea], all built keel boats on the bank of the Big Pigeon River in Hayward County [Tennessee].  They loaded their possessions and live-stock on these keel boats in the early fall of 1817 and floated on the Big Pigeon River to the French Broad River.  From there they reached the Tennessee, going over the Muscle Shoals on to the Ohio to the Mississippi which they crossed to about where St. Louis is located today.  This was known as Missouri Territory.  They arrived in the winter, and the French offered them home sites and rights to share public pasture which they were glad to accept for the rest of the winter.  The Gwinns in this group were brothers Bartholomew, Allmon and William who had married three of Abner Mullins’s sisters, namely Susannah Bly, Newraney and Agnes, respectively.  Hosea Hampton was Jedidiah’s brother.  These people had previously settled in what later became Cocke County, Tennessee.


The next spring they rowed or otherwise managed to get their keel boats up the Missouri River to Booneville….

…


…The Gwinn families and Hosea Hampton settled on land that became Saline County, Missouri.

The GWINNs had fond memories of the homes in Tennessee that they left, as the following indicates:

Gwinntown has long been forgotten.  It was located on Big Pigeon, where the three Gwinn brothers, Alman, Bartholomew and Absolom once lived, near Kit Bullard’s Old Mill.  They went to Missouri and never tired of telling people there about their mountain home and named Gwinntown for Absolom.  (Some claim Kit Bullard’s Old Mill was near Rogersville, but the three Gwinn brothers always referred to it as having been in Cocke County.)
 

39
Newraney MULLINS

There is a claim that Newraney was a “full blood Cherokee girl.”  Allman Guinn, her son, “… proved his Cherokee descent and was placed on the Eastern Cherokee Roll, and drew his part in the distribution about 1910.”   A descendant, Juanita Wilson Smith, was ruled by county and district courts in Oklahoma not to be of Indian descent, however. 
  Actually, it appears that the story was garbled and one of Newraney’s descendants married an Indian 
 (or not).
14 Jul. 1798.  Niarany Gwyn, wife of Almond, was received by letter into the membership of the Big Pigeon Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee. 
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Micajah HAMPTON

About 1737.  Born (based on first appearance of Micajah on Amelia County, Virginia, tithables lists in 1753 and men becoming tithable at 16 years of age). 

1753.  Jno Hampton & Micajah Hampton: 2 tithables (Amelia County, Virginia, tithable list of Jno Nash, Nottoway Parish).

6 Dec. 1757.  Land was surveyed for Micajah Hampton:

No. 1 Survey’d 6 Decemr. 1757 for Micajah Hampton 400 acres of Land on the branches of Childress Creek.  Beginning at a pine thence No 5E188 poles crossing 2 Branches to a small Red Oak in John Sanders line, thence on his line No 53E52 po.s to a Red Oak, thence on Andrew Paddys line No 87½[?]E100 po.s  Crossing a branch to a Black Jack, thence New line So40 E311 po.s  Crossing a Branch to a pine on Mayess Road, thence up the Road as it Meanders to pointers, thence off No45W94 po.s  to the Beginning

one third plantable


Rob.t Wooding Assr.

Transfer to Aaron Meeks 19th April 1770 }

& [?] order of Micajm Hampton & Wooding S.H.C}

1762.  Micajah Hampton purchased 330 acres in Halifax County, Virginia, on both sides of Bradley Creek from Welcom William Hodges for 45 pounds on 20 May 1762. Signed by Welcom W. Hodges and witnessed by Wm (+) Laws, John (+) Dean, Joseph Collins.  Recorded 20 May 1762 (see Deed Book 3, p. 298).
 

About 1768.  Birth of son Ahab (based on first appearance of Ahab in the personal property tax lists of Halifax County, Virginia, in 1789).

1768.  Micajah Hampton voted for Walter Coles, Esq., in an election in Halifax County, Virginia, for the Virginia House of Burgesses, 2 Dec. 1768.  He also voted for Col. Robt. Wooding during that same election (at the time, voters made two selections).
 

5 Dec. 1769.  Land was surveyed for Micajah Hampton:

No. 2 Survey’d the 5th Decemr 1769 for Micajah Hampton 357 acres of Land on the Branches of Bradleys & Spider Creeks Beginning at James Hodges corner pointers in Colliers Line, thence … Edward Deans corner … Owin Bradys … Bookers Road, Bradys Line … Peter Bryans line … James Hodges line…half plantable




Wooding S.H.C.

NB

The above 357 acres of Land was Transferred the 25th day of Octr 1773 To Stap Roberts by order of the said Micajah Hampton 
By Wooding S.H.C. 

For more on this survey, see Halifax County Deed Book 8, p. 159.
 

1771.  September Court 1771.  Micajah Hampton, Plaintiff against John Hampton, Defendant.  This suit was dismissed by the court.

About 1773.  Micajah Hampton and family became members of “the Catawba Baptist Church organized in 1773 in Halifax County near where they lived.”
 

1782.  Micajah Hampton:  1 white male over 21, 4 horses, 8 cattle (1782, p. 1, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

1783.  Micajah Hampton: 1 white male over 21, 1 slave, 2 horses, 8 cattle (1783, p. 1, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

1783.  Micajah Hampton purchased about 178 acres on Spider Creek in Halifax County, Virginia, from Stapp (Staph) Roberts of Amelia County for 40 pounds on 20 Oct 1783.  The property was adjacent to land owned by Bartlett Guinn, as well as Millstone Road, Dean.   Signed:  Stap Robeads.  Witnesses:  Joseph Collins, William Chandler, Anderson Fambrough.  (see Deed Book 12, p. 407).
  This might be half of the land surveyed for Micajah Hampton on 5 Dec. 1769.
1784.  [Mi]cajah Hampton: 1 white male over 21, 1 slave, 2 horses, 6 cattle (1784, p. 2, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

1785.  Micajah Hampton:  1 white male over 21, 1 slave, 3 horses, 5 cattle (1785, p. 17, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

1786.  Micajah Hampton:  1 white male over 21, 1 slave, 2 horses, 4 cattle (1786, p. 1, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

27 Apr. 1787.  Micajah Hampton:  1 white male over 21, 1 slave, 2 horses, 4 cattle (1787, North District, p. 11, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

28 May 1787.  Micajah Hampton:  1 white male over 21, 2 white males between 16 and 21, 1 slave over 16, 2 horses, 4 cattle (North District, Thomas Wooding, Commissioner, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax list, 1787). 

The tax commissioner visited every taxpayer’s household.  The others visited on 28 May, all of whom were likely Micajah’s neighbors, were the following (in alphabetical order):

	James Arnol
	James Harper
	Archibald Richardson

	John Brewer
	Stephen Hencock
	John Roe

	Henry Cox
	Joseph Hubbard
	William Simson

	George Dejarnat
	Sam Hubbard
	Samuel Thompkins

	Cat. James Dejarnat
	James Hunt
	Reuben Thornton

	John Dewes
	Moses Overton
	Richard Waller

	Jacob Garrott
	Elijah Richardson
	Jos. Woosley

	John Garrott
	Jno. Richardson
	


Why Micajah had two tax entries in 1787 is unknown. 
20 Nov. 1787.  Micajah Hampton of Halifax County, Virginia, sold to Anderson Fambrough of same about 100 acres on Bradley Creek where Anderson Fambrough lives for 50 pounds.  Adjacent are Wm Carr, Dudley Glass.  Signed:  Micajah Hampton.  Wit:  None.  Recorded: 20 Dec. 1787.  Anne, wife of Micajah Hampton, relinquished her dower right.  (see Deed Book 14, p. 202).
 

20 Nov. 1787.  Micajah Hampton of Halifax County, Virginia, sold to Thomas Uland of same about  232 1/4 acres on Bradley Creek where John Williams lives for 100 pounds.  Adjacent is Fambrough.  Signed:  Micajah Hampton.  Witnesses:  None.  Recorded: 20 Dec. 1787.  Anne, wife of Micajah Hampton, relinquished her dower right. (see Deed Book 14, p. 203).
 

1788.  Micajah Hampton:  1 white male over 21, 1 slave, 3 horses, 2 males between 16 and 21 (31 Mar. 1788, North District, p. 10, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

1789.  Micajah Hampton & Ahab Hampton:  2 white males over 21, 1 slave, 4 horses, 2 males between 16 and 21 (27 Apr. 1789, North District, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

29 Aug. 1789.  Dudley Glass of Halifax County, Virginia, sold to Micajah Hampton of same about 100 acres on fork of Bradley Creek for 35 pounds.  Adjacent is Richard Priddy (Priddie).  Signed:  Dudley Glass.  Witnesses:  None.  Recorded: 28 Feb. 1791.  Frances, wife of Dudley, relinquished her dower right.  (see Deed Book 15, p. 63).
 

16 Nov. 1789.  Bartlet Guin of Halifax County, Virginia, and Antrim Parish sold to Elizabeth Gray of Charlotte County about 100 acres at heads of Terrible and Spider Creeks (part of survey of 400 acres dated 1 Dec. 1769) for 18 pounds.  Adjacent are Bookers Road, Micajah Hampton, David Mullins, Milstone Road.  Signed:  Bartlet (x) Guin.  Wit:  James Bower, Edward (x) Polley, William (~) Mullins.  Recorded: 24 May 1790.  (See Deed Book 14, p. 597.) 

1790.  Micajah Hampton & Ahab Hampton:  2 white males over 21, 1 slave, 4 horses, 1 male between 16 and 21 (28 July 1790, North District, p. 15, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

1791.  Micajah Hampton:  3 white males over 21, 1 slave, 3 horses (11 June 1791, North District, p. 12, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

1792.  Micajah Hampton:  1 white male over 21, 1 slave, 1 horse (22 June 1792, North District, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

27 Feb. 1792.  Micajah Hampton of Halifax County, Virginia, sold to Richard Chick about 180 acres bounded by Spider Creek for 50 pounds.  Signed:  Micajah Hampton.  Wit:  None.  Recorded 27 Feb. 1792.
 

24 Oct. 1792.  Micajah Hampton of Halifax County, Virginia, sold to James Bruce of same about 100 acres (where Hampton lives) on branches of Bradley Creek (conveyed to Hampton by Dudley Glass) for 63 pounds.  Hampton has bond, payable on demand, with James Bruce for 31 pounds 10 shillings bearing interest from 1 May 1792.  If bond repaid, Hampton has land back as if deed never made.  Signed:  Micajah (M) Hampton.  Witnesses:  William Williams, David Pannill, William Bruce, Joseph Franklin, William Osborne.  Recorded 24 June 1793.  (see Deed Book 15, p. 592).
 

1793.  Micajah Hampton:  1 white male over 21, 1 slave, 2 horses (1793, North District, p. 24, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

23 ? 1793.  David Mullins of Halifax County, Virginia, sold to son Abner Mullins (deed of gift), after death of David and wife, Athaliah, 100 acres (part of survey granted to Bartlet Guin for 400 acres on heads of Terrible, Bradleys, and Spider Creeks) on south fork of Bradleys Creek and main branch of Turrible Creek.  Adjacent to this property were Thomas Hornsby, and Millstone Road, Owens Ferry Road.  Signed:  David (D) Mullins.  Witnesses:  George Priddy, Absolom Lain, Micajah (M) Hampton.  Recorded 25 April 1796.  (see Deed Book 16, p. 552).
 

1794.  Micajah Hampton:  1 white male over 21, 1 slave, 1 horse (1794, North District, p. 25, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

1795.  Micajah Hampton:  1 white male over 21, 1 horse (10 Apr. 1795, North District, p. 31, Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists, 1782-99).

11 Feb. 1796.  William Lane (Lain) of Halifax County, Virginia, sold to Moses Lossen (Lawson) of same 45 acres for 20 pounds.  Adjacent were properties of Glass and Hampton.  Signed:  William (x) Lane.  Witnesses:  Thomas (x) Laine, John (x) Lossen, Absolem Lane.  Recorded: 25 April 1796.  (see Deed Book 16, p. 556).
 

30 April 1796.  “Breathren Peter Fine and A. McKay bee appointed to talk with Hampton Calaham and Others living in the Fork and Invite them to take a seate with us next Monthly Meeting - and Make report to the Church of theare Proseadings.” 
  
6 May 1797.  Micajah Hampton was received by letter into the membership of the Big Pigeon Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee. 
  

2 Jun. 1798.  Micajah Hampton was repudiated as a member of the Big Pigeon Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee, when it was found that he had been excommunicated by the Catawba [Baptist] Church in Halifax County, Virginia.
 
41
Anne ??

Given that she had a granddaughter named Anna Wade Hampton, it is possible that Anne’s maiden name was Wade.  Alternatively, the granddaughter might have been named (1) after another ancestor named Anna Wade Hampton, (2) after another ancestor named Anna Wade, (3) after the Revolutionary War hero Wade Hampton (although it would be more likely a name given a son), or (4)because “Wade Hampton” sounded grand.  More research is needed.

6 May 1797.  Ann Hampton, wife of Micajah, was received by letter into the membership of the Big Pigeon Baptist Church, Cocke County, Tennessee. 
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42
William DODSON

The Rev. Elias Dodson wrote a history of his family in about 1859.  This is what he said about William Dodson, his uncle, as reported by Mrs. Sherman Williams (emphasis added): 

William Dodson the preacher on the 15th page was one of the greatest speakers of the age.  He was a natural poet.  He could make song as he sung them.  Governor Moreheads mother in N.C. told me that preacher Dodson went to a village where a very wicked man lived and inquired a great deal about him.  At length the wicked man came up the street to the store door to see him.  He said “I learn that he can make poetry” “Yes” said Governor Moreheads father and he make poetry about you if you will promise not get mad” He said he would not get mad.  Uncle then told in verse all that he ever did in his life.  He [William Dodson] was baptized by John Leland, remained and preached in Virginia about 30 years, then in 1797 he removed to Iredale County N. Carolina and preached nearly all the time till he died May 6, 1832.  He was the greatest preacher that was ever raised in our family.  I regret very much indeed he did not print his poetry.  Nearly all of it has gone into forgetfulness.  Some old men recollect the verse that he repeated to the arts.  I will write it on the other side of this leaf.
Tis to the pen and page we mortals owe

All we believe and most of what we know

Thanks to the kind preservers of the arts

That raise our minds and cultivate our hearts.

No man living did more good and planted more churches.  He was a very poor man all his life.  He preached a great deal.  When ever he came home he would be up every morning by day & work powerfully all the time till he would start out again.  Though very poor, he always made enough and never suffered.  He loved to smoke very much.  He never feared he would get out of meat and bread but he was very fearful he would get out of smoking tobacco.
About 1738.  Born, probably in Prince William County, Virginia.

30 Nov. 1763.  Married Winifred Johnson in Fauquier County, Virginia.

13 May 1764.  Probably became a member by baptism of the Broad Run Church (Baptist) in Fauquier County, Virginia. 

1769.  Probably was excommunicated by the Broad Run Church (Baptist) in Fauquier County, Virginia.

About 1770.  Birth of daughter Winifred in Virginia.

Before 1774.  Birth of daughter Rachel.

Before 1774.  Birth of son James.

About 1773.  Remarried (wife’s name unknown).

About 1774.  Birth of daughter Sallie in Virginia.

After 1774.  Birth of daughter Rosannah.

After 1774.  Birth of son William.

Possibly 1780s.  Birth of son Elijah.

12 Apr. 1790.  Birth of daughter Mary.

After 1774.  Birth of daughter Annis.
After 1774.  Birth of daughter Elizabeth.

1780.  Minister at the Cascade Creek Church (Baptist).

1782-1789.  Appears on Halifax County, Virginia, personal property tax lists.  
25 April 1787.  William Dodson was on personal property tax list A, North District, Halifax County, Virginia, Thomas Wooding, Commissioner, and had 1 white male over 21, 1 slave under 16, 3 horses, etc., and 3 cattle.  Those visited by the tax commissioner on the same day that William was, and thus likely his neighbors, were the following (in alphabetical order and emphasis added): 

	William Carr
	Randolph Pearman

	James Dodson
	William Powell

	Obediah Echols
	Richard Priddy

	Anderson Fambrough
	John Pulling Jr.

	Dudley Glass
	William Robertson

	Hosea Hampton
	Bartlet Tucker

	Richard Johnson
	Harbart Tucker

	Robert Lumpkins
	John Williams

	Daniel McGreger
	Charles Wilson

	John McGreger
	


1785.  Organized the Arbor Baptist Church in Halifax County, Virginia.

1789.  Organized the Millstone Baptist Church in Halifax County, Virginia.

1790-1795.  Appears on Pittsylvania County, Virginia, tax lists.
1800-1810.  Minister at Kings Creek Church  (Baptist) in North Carolina.
18 Dec. 1800.  William Dodson received a state grant of 300 acres in Wilkes County, North Carolina, on waters of Beaver Creek.  (See Grant No. 2123, Grant Book 108, p. 422.) 
  On the same date, he also received a state grant of 200 acres in Wilkes County, North Carolina, on Brushey Mt. beginning at a chesnut [sic] oak.  (See Grant No. 2124, Grant Book 108, p. 423.)
  
4 May 1801.  William Dodson sold 200 acres in Wilkes County, North Carolina, on Brushy Mountain to Thomas Phillips for 100 pounds.
1805.  Appears on Wilkes County, North Carolina tax list.

1810.   In Wilkes County, North Carolina, at the time of the Federal Census.

28 Nov. 1812.  William Dotson received a state grant of 50 acres in Wilkes County, North Carolina, on waters of the Lower Little River.  (See Grant No. 2892, Grant Book 127, p. 132.)
  Mrs. Sherman Williams says that this was “just beyond Brushy Mountains.” 

24 Nov. 1813.  William Dotson received a state grant of 50 acres in Wilkes County, North Carolina, on Lamberts fork of the Little River.  (See Grant No. 2917, Grant Book 127, p. 552.) 
  
1814.  Minister at Zion Hill Church (Baptist) in North Carolina.

1820.  In Wilkes County, North Carolina, at the time of the Federal Census.

4 Aug. 1822.  Helped found Fishing Creek Church (Baptist).

6 May 1832.  Died in Iredell County, North Carolina, according to Rev. Elias Dodson, an early family chronicler. 
  Other sources believe it more likely that he died in Wilkes County, North Carolina.  He was buried at Three Forks Baptist Church in Alexander County (formerly Wilkes County), North Carolina.
43
Winifred JOHNSON

Circa 1773 or earlier.  Died. 
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44
John RENNISON

12 Nov. 1778.  Marriage of John Renison, bachelor of Burnfoot in Arthuret Parish, Cumberland, England, and Bridget Irwin, spinster of Longtown, Arthuret Parish, Cumberland, 12 Nov. 1778.  Officiating at the wedding was John James, Curate.  The witnesses were James Irwing [sic] and Rich. Irwin [Rich. Irwin was probably the parish clerk].  Both John and Bridget made their marks. 
  The marriage was by banns.  The banns were read on 25 Oct. 1779 [sic], 1 Nov. 1778, and 8 Nov. 1778.

12 July 1779.  Birth of son John.
 

18 July 1779.  Christening of son John. The parents of the child were identified as John Rennison, laborer in the parish of Kirkandrews-upon-Esk, Cumberland, England, and his wife, Bridget.

22 Apr. 1781.  Christening of son James. The parents of the child were identified as John Ranaldson of Pound, Cumberland, England, laborer, and Bridget, his wife.

45
Bridget IRWIN
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46
Fortunatus CREIGHTON

About 1743.  Born (based on age at death).

28 May 1769.  Fortun Creeghton was a witness at the marriage of William Johnston of St. Mary’s Parish, Carlisle, bachelor, and Anna Usher of St. Mary’s Parish, widow, at St. Mary’s Church, Carlisle, Cumberland, England.
 

30 Dec. 1769.  Fortunatus Creighton of the parish of "St. Maries Carlisle," bachelor, and Mary Hall of St. Cuthbert's parish, "Single woman", married at St. Cuthbert's Church, Carlisle, Cumberland, England, by banns. Witnesses were John Brown and Samuel Rickerby.
 

16 Dec. 1770.  George, son of Fortunatus Creighton, shoemaker, and his wife Mary, was christened at St. Mary’s Church, Carlisle, Cumberland, England.
 

9 Mar. 1772.  Fortun. Creighton was a witness at the marriage of Thomas Campbell of St. Cuthbert’s Parish, Carlisle, bachelor aged 22 years, and Jane Brown of St. Cuthbert’s Parish, Carlisle, spinster aged 22 years, St. Cuthbert’s Church, Carlisle, Cumberland, England.
 

20 Dec. 1772.  Mary, daughter of Fortunatus Creighton of Rickergate, shoemaker, and his wife Mary, was christened at St. Mary’s Church, Carlisle, Cumberland, England.
 
16 Feb. 1777.  James (twin), son of Fortune Creighton of Rickergate, shoemaker, and his wife Mary, was christened at St. Mary’s Church, Carlisle, Cumberland, England. 

James is not the ancestor of Bishop Mandell Creighton of London.  Mandell did descend from a James Creighton of Carlisle who serendipitously was born at about the same time as James the twin.  The 1851 Census identified the birthplace of Mandell’s grandfather James (age 73) as being Kirklinton [Cumberland] (Mandel [sic] was living with his grandfather James, a cabinet maker, at 35 Lowther St. in the City of Carlisle and the Township of Scotch St. in 1851). 
   

James the twin is likely the pensioned soldier, 65 years old, living at 60 Scotch St. in Carlisle with Sarah Crighton, publican, also 65, and Sarah Crighton, straw hat maker, 15, at the time of the 1841 Census.
 

Sarah Creighton was identified as the proprietor of the Capt. Cook Inn in Carlisle in Pigot’s directory in 1834, Steel’s directory in 1837, Scott & Benson’s directory in 1844, Mannix and Whelan’s directory in 1847, and Slater’s directory in 1848.  The Capt. Cook Inn was located on Capt. Cook Lane, a byway off of Scotch St.  The inn was demolished in the 1880s and Capt. Cook Lane became the main entrance to the then new covered market.
 At the time of his death in 1828, Fortunatus Creighton was the proprietor of the Capt. Cook Inn.
16 Feb. 1777.  Jane (twin), daughter of Fortune Creighton of Rickergate, shoemaker, and his wife Mary, was christened at St. Mary’s Church, Carlisle, Cumberland, England. 

20 Dec. 1778.  John, son of Fortunatus Creighton of Rickergate, shoemaker, and his wife Mary, was christened at St. Mary’s Church, Carlisle, Cumberland, England. 

10 Dec. 1780.  William, son of Fortune Creighton of Rickergate, shoemaker, and his wife Mary, was christened at St. Mary’s Church, Carlisle, Cumberland, England. 

28 Sept. 1786.  George, son of Fortune Creighton, innkeeper, apprenticed to John Nixon, butcher (Carlisle, Cumberland, England). 

1790.  Fortune Creighton identified as a victualler in the city of Carlisle, Cumberland, England. 

1796.  William, son of Fortune Creighton of Rickergate near the city, innkeeper, apprenticed to George Creighton, butcher (Carlisle, Cumberland, England). 

10 May 1799.  Joseph, son of Fortune Creighton of Rickergate near the city, shoemaker, apprenticed to John Skelton, butcher (Carlisle, Cumberland, England). 

1811.  F. Creighton identified as an innkeeper on Scotch Street, Carlisle, Cumberland, England. 

11 July 1828.  Fortunatus Creighton, Scotch St., age 85, buried at St. Mary's Church, Carlisle, Cumberland, England (Burial No. 1256). 

1829.  Fortunate Creighton identified as an innkeeper at Capt. Cook Inn, Carlisle, Cumberland, England. 

47
Mary HALL

About 1743.  Born (based on age at death).
1816.  Mary Creighton of Scotch Street, Carlisle, Cumberland, England, buried at 73 years of age.
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52
Hezekiah RUDD
6 February 1778.  Hezekiah enlisted in the Patriot cause for one year during Revolutionary War.  He was a Private.

April 1778.  Hezekiah was with a detachment of 5th Virginia Regiment and other troops on march to headquarters under George Menzies, Ensign. 

April - May 1778.  Hezekiah was in Capt. William Fowler's Company, 5th Virginia Regiment, Col. Josiah Parker commanding. 

June - August 1778.  Hezekiah was in Capt. William Fowler's Company, 5th Virginia Regiment. 

1 September 1778.  Hezekiah was in White Plains with Capt. William Fowler's Company, 5th Virginia Regiment, Col. Richard Parker commanding. 

1 October 1778.  Hezekiah was "Sick Fish Kill" with Capt. William Fowler's Company, 5th Virginia Regiment, Col. Richard Parker commanding.  His unit was at West Point at that time. 

November 1778.  Hezekiah was in Capt.-Lieut. Bentley's Company, 3rd Virginia Regiment, Col. William Heth commanding. 

1 December 1778.  Hezekiah was "Sick-Present" at Pompton with Col. Heth's Company, commanded by Capt.-Lieut. Bentley, 3rd Virginia Regiment, Col. William Heth commanding. 

13 January 1779.  Hezekiah was "On Command" at Middle Brooke with Col. Heth's Company, commanded by Capt.-Lieut. Bentley, 3rd Virginia Regiment, Col. William Heth commanding. 

1 February 1779.  Marriage bond taken out in Amelia County, Virginia, for marriage of Aldridge Rudd [Hezekiah’s brother] and Ann Hawkins.  David Hawkins [Ann’s father] was the surety for the bond.  Aldridge is from Chesterfield County.

28 February 1779.  Hezekiah was discharged from Col. Heth's Company, 3rd Virginia Regiment. 

23 October 1779.  Marriage bond taken out in Amelia County, Virginia, for marriage of Hezekiah and Lucy Hawkins [Ann (Hawkins) Rudd’s sister].  David Hawkins [Lucy’s father] was the surety for the bond.

1780-1783.  Some of Hezekiah’s property was taken to supply the Patriot cause. 

6 September 1784.  A certificate was issued to Hezekiah for the balance of pay owed him as a soldier of the Virginia Line. 

1786.  Hezekiah Rudd’s household in Chesterfield County, Virginia, had 1 taxable white male (himself), 1 slave under 16, 2 horses, and 4 cattle.

29 Oct. 1787.  Hezekiah Rudd was among those who signed the “Petition Against Destroying the Mill Dams Along the Appomattox River to Make It Navigable.” 

29 Mar. 1788.  Hezekiah Rudd’s household in Chesterfield County, Virginia, had 1 taxable white males, no slaves, and 2 horses. 
  His likely neighbors in 1788 were the following, all of whom were visited by the taxman on the same day that Hezekiah was (emphasis added):

	Edward Anderson
	Collimgs Gooding
	William Robertson

	Frank Armstrong
	Francis Gordan
	John Rowlett

	Edward Bass Jr.
	James Gordan
	Frederick Rudd

	Bevely Blankinship
	John Gordan
	James Rudd

	Francis Blankinship
	Aron Haskins
	Robert Rudd

	Daniel Bowman Jr.
	Edward Loafman
	James Snelling

	Edward Branch estate
	Wm. Loafman
	Bevly Standly

	Henry Branch
	Benejah Lockett
	William Stephens

	Thos. Branch
	James Moody
	Phill. Three?

	John Coats
	David Morrisett
	Thomas Watkins

	Hamblin Cole
	Alexander Mosley
	Joseph Wilkerson

	Henry Cox
	Richard Moseley
	Samuell Wilkerson

	Thomas Fargesson
	John Owen
	William Wilkerson Jr.

	Fountain Force
	George Patrom
	Jacob William

	John B. Force
	Francis Perdew
	Wm. William

	John B. Force estate
	Aron Purdie
	Wm. Williamson

	John Good Jr.
	James Robertson
	Peter Worsham


17 Aug. 1795.  Hezekiah was one of three executors designated by David Hawkins [Hezekiah’s father-in-law] in his will.

27 June 1801.  Larkin Pilkinton assaulted Robert Nunnelly with an axe at the home of Hez Rudd in Chesterfield County, Virginia.  Nunnelly died from a blow to the head from the axe wielded by Pilkinton. 

1803.  Settlement of Hezekiah’s accounts as guardian of Frederick Rudd (see Chesterfield County Will Book 6, p. 190).

3 Sep. 1803.  According to his will, filed in Caswell County, North Carolina, Hezekiah Rudd‘s estate was not to be distributed until the youngest child of Hezekiah reached the age of 10, and it was then to be divided equally among the following heirs (all his children):

· Viney Pinchback
· Jeremiah Rudd
· Nancey Rudd
· James Rudd
· Bidsey Rudd
· David Rudd
· Rebecca Rudd
William Pinchback and wife Viney were to keep the children with them.  The executors of the last will and testament were William Pinchback and Jeremiah Rudd.  The last will and testament was witnessed on 3 Sept. 1803 by A. Gordon, Levi Fuller, and Frankey Rudd.

1803.  Inventory of the estate of Hezekiah Rudd was taken by his executors, William Pinchback and Jeremiah Rudd (Caswell County, North Carolina).
  

53
Lucy HAWKINS
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54
Elisha EVANS

The parents of Elisha Evans are currently unknown.  Elisha Evans reports that he was born in Nottoway County, Virginia, in 1760.  Nottoway County, however, was not formed from Amelia County, Virginia, until over 20 years after Elisha was born.  This means that Elisha was probably born in Amelia County and also probably in Nottoway Parish.

A comparison of the Evans (Evans, Evens, Evins) males mentioned in the tax lists of Amelia County, Virginia, for 1736 through 1764 with those mentioned in the tax lists of Caswell County, North Carolina, for 1777, 1780, and 1784 (the only years available) reveals no overlap, as the following shows:  

Amelia County Tax Lists, 1736-1764:

· Benjamin (1762-64)

· Evan (1756-64)

· George (1736-57)

· Griffin/Griffith (1748-52)

· James (1744)

· John (1736-54)

· Richard (1763-64)

· Robert (1736-64)

· William (1737-64)

Caswell County Tax Lists, 1777:

· Thomas Evans, Richmond District, assessed valuation:  348 pounds 6 shillings 1 pence

· Thomas Evans, Caswell District

· Thomas Evans, Gloucester District, assessed valuation:  192 pounds

· Thomas Evans Jr., Gloucester District, assessed valuation:  100 pounds

· Walter (Walton?) Evans, Gloucester District

Caswell County Tax Lists, 1780, 1784:

· Daniel (1784)

· Thomas (1780 & 84)

· Walter (1780)

· Zachariah (1784)

None of the men on the Amelia County list appears on the Caswell County list.  The Amelia County list includes the names of most white males over 16; the Caswell County list, on the other hand, only includes the names of the white male heads of households.  Other white males are not identified.  

Caswell County returns for the state census of North Carolina, 1786, include no Evans or Evens but do include the following Evins:

· Thomas (household had 2 white males over 60 or under 21 and 2 white females)
· Zacheriah (household had 1 white male over 21 and 2 white females)
· Daniel (household had 1 white male over 21, 2 white males over 60 or under 21, and 1 white female)
· Thomas (household had 2 white males over 21, 2 white males over 60 or under 21, and 2 white females)
On the census lists, Zacheriah and Daniel appear in sequence, indicating that they were neighbors.  In theory, these four men were all of the heads of Evins/Evens/Evans households that there were in the Caswell County in 1786.  No new names are added to the previous list.   The census returns do show that there were only two men named Thomas Evins/Evens/Evans in the county in 1786, while the 1777 tax lists identified four.
Land grants in Caswell County were made to the following Evans:

· Thomas Evans, acres:  320, date:  11 Jan 1779, location:  S. Hico

· Zachariah Evans, acres:  336, date:  16 Sep 1778, locatio:  S. Hico
No new names are added.  Given the location of the two land grants, Thomas and Zachariah might be related, since they both acquired land in the same general area.
T.L.C. Genealogy prepared Virginia in 1760:  A Reconstructed Census.  In this book, the following “Evans” were identified as appearing in Amelia County deed or court order books for the period around 1760:

· --- Evans
· George Evans/Evens/Evins 

· Margaret Evans/Evins 

· Robert Evans

· Thomas Evans

Despite the multiple surnames, George is probably one person.  Margaret always appears on the same page of the books as George,
 so she is probably his wife.  Robert and Thomas appear on the same page of a deed book,
 so there is likely some association between the two men.
Thomas appears in both an Amelia County, Virginia, deed book and on the tax and census lists for Caswell County, North Carolina.  Thomas, therefore, is possibly the father of Elisha Evans. 

A Thomas Evans died in Caswell County in about 1801.  The only relative mentioned in the case file (loose papers) for him was an adult son named Lewis.  Thomas died heavily in debt.  The loose papers mostly dealt with that debt.
  The heirs mentioned in Thomas’s 1801 Last will and testament were his wife Mary, sons William, Jesse, and Lewis, and daughters Frances Ashburn (wife of D. Anderson Ashburn), Pherilee Evans (wife of Daniel Evans), and Pheeby Malone (wife of Staples Malone).

The early will books of Caswell County, which begin in 1777, can be used to add the following names to the list of Evans:
  
· Benjamin (1794)

· Daniel (1786)

· Jesse (1793)

· Lewis (1791)

· Samuel (1791)

· Thomas (1786 & 88)

· William (1789)

· Zachariah (1791, 93, 94 & 95)

In this group are two names that also appear on the Amelia County tax lists, Benjamin and William.  Either or neither might be Elisha’s father (or brother or other kinsman).  These men are not the deceased, but rather might have owed money to an estate, been owed money by an estate, or participated in estate sales.  Z[achariah], Benjamin, and Elisha “Evanse” all paid the estate of John Crisp money in 1794.
  This might indicate kinship among the “Evanse” (and possibly between the “Evanse” and John Crisp), and it makes Benjamin a candidate for Elisha’s father.  Given that the first mention of Benjamin in the records occurred in 1794, it is more likely that Benjamin is Elisha’s brother or cousin.   The Samuel in the will book list might be Elisha’s brother Samuel.  Brother Samuel was reported by Elisha to be living in Person County, North Carolina, in 1832.
Zachariah Evans of Caswell County, North Carolina, was a patriot soldier during the Revolutionary War.  He was reportedly born on 27 March 1764 in Mecklenburg County, Virginia.
  Mecklenburg County did not exist until 1765, however, so Zachariah was probably born in that part of Lunenburg County that became Mecklenburg County.  One or more adults named Benjamin Evans were living in Lunenburg County in the 1770s.
  Furthermore, an Elisha Evans was granted the administration of the estate of a Benjamin Evans in Lunenburg County in 1805.

Elisha was very well thought of in Caswell County, North Carolina.  He was suggested as a potential witness by or was deposed concerning Revolutionary War service for Robert Browning, Dudley Gatewood, Herndon Haralson, William Hopper, Benjamin Long, John Mcmullen, David Mitchell, Thomas Roun, Nathan Slade, William Slade, Richard Smith, and Jonathan Starkey.
 

2 Dec 1760.  Born in Amelia (later Nottoway) County, Virginia.
  

Circa 1776-1778.  An unnamed brother died at Cross Creek, North Carolina, while serving in Capt. Atkinson’s Company (Patriots) during the Revolutionary War.  Elisha described himself as “…very young at the time…,”
 so this death probably predated his own military service. 

1778-1781.  Elisha was a Revolutionary War veteran.  According to his successful pension application, he served with North Carolina troops in the Continental cause from 1778 to 1781.  His service began around Oct. 1778, when he served five months in Capt. White's company, Col. James Sanders's regiment.  He was discharged in April 1779. In the summer of 1780, he served four months in Capt. John Graves's company, Col. Paisley's regiment, with which he was at the Battle of Camden.  Afterwards, he was transferred to Capt. John McMullin's company of Light Horse in Col. James Williams's regiment, with which he was at the Battle of King's Mountain (about Oct. 1780).  In the winter of 1780/81 he served for three months in Capt. Spillsby Coleman's company, Col. Farmer's regiment, with which he was at the Battle of Cowan's Ford and an engagement at Torrance's Lane.  From August or September 1781, he served in Capt. John McMullen's company, Col. William Moore's regiment, with which he was at an engagement at White Marsh. 

3 Mar 1789.  He married Elizabeth (“Betsy”) Lea in Caswell County, North Carolina.

14 Sep. 1792.  Elisha Evans was a witness, along with David Shelton, to the sale of 200 acres for 100 pounds by Alexander Wiley of Caswell County to James Richmond of Caswell County (see Caswell County Deed Book G, pp. 345-346).

October 1794.  During the October Court 1794, Elisha Evanse was identified as one of those owing the estate of John Crisp (see Caswell County Will Book C, pp. 104 et seq.).

13 Jan. 1796.  Elisha Evans was a witness, along with William Lea and John Hughs, to the sale of 150 acres for 110 pounds by John Chrissenberry of Caswell County, to George Roberts (see Caswell County Deed Book K, p. 316). 

16 Jan. 1798.  Elisha Evans was among those purchasing items at the estate sale of John Rice, decd. (see Caswell County Will Book C, pp. 338 et seq.). 

11 Nov. 1802.  Elisha Evans was among those purchasing items at the estate sale of Hannah Graves, decd. (see Caswell County Will Book D, pp. 145 et seq.). 

7 June 1803.  Elisha Evans was among those purchasing items at the estate sale of John Lea, Senr., decd. (see Caswell County Will Book E, pp. 14 et seq.). 

16 Nov. 1803.  Elisha Evans was among those purchasing items at the second estate sale of John Lea, decd. (see Caswell County Will Book E, pp. 71 et seq.). 

17 Nov. 1803.  Elisha Evans was among those purchasing items at the estate sale of Thomas Yancey, decd. (see Caswell County Will Book E, pp. 42 et seq.). 

28 June 1804. Elisha Evans of Caswell County purchased from Thomas Kimbrough of Caswell County 100 acres on Country Line Creek near Kimbrough for $200.  The deed was witnessed by Alex Murphey and James Scott (see Caswell County Deed Book N, pp. 229-230).

April 1810.  During the April Court 1810, Elisha Evans was among those who purchased the balance of the estate of John Lipscomb, decd. (see Caswell County Will Book F, p. 102). 

12 Nov. 1811.  Elisha Evans and three other commissioners made an allotment to Salley Sewell, widow of Benjamin Sewell (see Caswell County Will Book F, p. 250). 
 

13 July 1813.  Elisha Evans of Caswell County sold Jeremiah Rudd of Caswell County 50 acres on Country Line Creek adjacent to William Graves and the heirs of Thomas Kimbrough, decd., for 25 pounds.  The land was part of a parcel deeded by Thomas Kimbrough.  The deed was witnessed by Allen Gunn (see Caswell County Deed Book R, pp. 59-60).

4 Nov. 1813.  Elisha Evans was among those purchasing items at the estate sale of Phebe Lipscomb, decd. (see Caswell County Will Book F, pp. 404 et seq.). 

31 Dec. 1813.  Jeremiah Rudd purchased from William and Isbel Graves 100 acres on Country Line Creek adjacent to Elisha Evans and Goodwin Evans for $250.  The deed was witnessed by Lewis Graves (see Caswell County Deed Book R, pp. 97-98).

As the information above indicates, Goodwin Evans was a neighbor of Elisha.  At the time of the 1850 Federal Census, Goodwin’s household included Lewis Evans, age 83.
  He is probably Goodwin’s father and possibly a younger brother of Elisha.

Jan. 1816.  During the January Court 1816, Elisha Evans was among those purchasing items at the estate sale of Elizabeth Long, decd. (see Caswell County Will Book G, pp. 137 et seq.). 

July 1816.  During the July Court 1816, Elisha Evans was among those purchasing items at the estate sale of William Gooch, decd. (see Caswell County Will Book G, pp. 239 et seq.). 

5 Feb. 1819.  Elisha Evans was among those purchasing the property of Edward Bartlett [, decd.] (see Caswell County Will Book H, p. 251). 

15 Nov. 1827.  Elisha Evans was among those purchasing the property of Elizabeth Kimbrough, decd. (see Caswell County Will Book L, p. 268). 

4 Feb. 1830.  Elisha Evans was among those purchasing the property of James Yancey, decd. (see Caswell County Will Book L, pp. 487-508). 

1832.  A brother, Samuel Evans, was living in Person County, North Carolina, in 1832.
 

8 Oct. 1832.  Elisha applied for a pension as a Revolutionary War veteran.  His application was approved and he received a pension (Pension Certificate No. 4254).
  His statement concerning his Revolutionary War service was as follows:
State of North Carolina}[unknown symbol]
Court of Pleas and 


Quarter Sessions

County of Caswell
October Term 1832

On this 8th day of October 1832 personally appeared in open Court before James Rainey, John P. Harrison & James McMullin the Courts of Pleas and Quarter Sessions of Caswell County now sitting: Elisha Evans Senr. a resident of the Said County of Caswell in the Said State of North Carolina aged Seventy two years on the Second Day of December next who being first duly sworn according to Said doth on his Oath make the following Declaration in order to obtain the benefit of the act of Congress June 7th 1832 -

That he entered the Sirvice of the United States under the following named Officers and Served as herein Stated. To wit: "That Sometime, I think in the month of October 1778 I (This applicant) was drafted in the militia of the County of Caswell and State of North Carolina in Captain Whites Company in the regiment Commanded by Colonel James Sanders, in this Company or Regiment George Moore was our Major. That we were marched through our State into the State of South Carolina. That at Salisbury we joined Genl. Rutherford, Commanding the North Carolina Militia that we were marched by a Variety of places as far as Purrysburg in South Carolina. We had some little Picket Guard fighting across the River as we also had at other places but of not much Consequence. While in South Carolina I was discharged after Serving a tour of five months or more, my discharge I have lost. Think I received it of Capt. William White. A part of the troop had a Severe fight at a place on Brion Creek But I was not with them at the time, being at that time stationed on this side of the River. We were discharged some time in April 1779 - At the time I was drafted I lived in Caswell County and State of North Carolina, where I have resided since.

Some time during the Summer of 1780, I [illegible words] believed was a Coward or something worse (Tory) under Captain John Graves, in the Company Commanded by Colonel Paisley - we were marched again into South Carolina, and as far as Camden, where meeting with the enemy, near Camden, we fought the memerable action commonly called Gates? Defeat. Genl. Gates being our major Genl. And Commanding officer. In this action we suffered a disgraceful defeat by the mismangement or Cowardice of General Gates from this place in [illegible word] we retreated and the most of us reached home not having any place appointed for rendezvous. I came home, our time not yet being out, we were Transferred (I hear) to Captain John McMullin? Company of Light Horse and went under Colonel James Williams, of South Carolina the Said Colo. William at that time resided at a place called ninety six in South Carolina, & being driven away from his home & Country by the Tories he applied to the Governor of North Carolina for assistance which was granted, and myself under Capt. John McMullin was one who went out with him. We were marched to a place called the Cowpens, where we were joined Colonels Campbell Colonel Cleavland and I think Colo. Sevier. With them met the tories whom we were in pursuit of. The enemy were Commanded by a Major Forgerson. At Kings mountain we had a Severe ingagement and totally defeated the enemy. This Battle I think we fought in October 1780. From this place we were marched to a place called the Maravian Town in this State and were there discharged after serving (as I call it) Two Tours, amounting in all to some little upwords of [illegible word] months - Some Time in the Same Winter of the Same year (1780) I was again drafted under Capt. Spillsby Coleman for the Company Commanded by Colo. Farmer in which Company Archibald Murphy and Thomas Harrison were Majors. We were marched to the Catawba River, to a place Called Beaten[?] Ford or Cawans Ford here we met the enemy under Lord Cornwallis and endeavored to prevent their Crossing - here we had a fight and our Commanding officer, Genl. Davison killed. We were driven back and retreated. In our retreat we overtook Genl. Green near Salisburg and retreated through our State and our County across Don River and over into Virginia. When Genl. Green meeting with reinforcements we made a Stand. The enemy finding we were reinforced Turned their Course. We followed Them and Continued our pursuit toward Guilford, as far as to a place called the High Rock, where I was discharged (my Term of Service there expired) Some four or five days before the Guilford Battle was fought after Serving a tour in this Campaign of Three months my discharge is lost but from my recollection of it now I think it was dated in March 1781. -- In this Campaign I omitted to mention, that after we were driven from the Catawba River, we were overtaking in a lane called Tarrance Lane and here we had a Sharpe engagement and were defeated and retreated and in our retreat we overtook Genl. Green as I have before stated.

Some time of the latter part of August or the first of September of the same year I Volunteered in Capt. [illegible word or words] Company under Colo. William [illegible word] and Major Dudley Reynolds. We were marched to the Lower part of our own State (North Carolina) for the purpose and [illegible word] the [illegible word] of retaking our Governor who sometime just before this was Captured by the Tories and British. We followed the enemy to place near Wilmington called the White [Whites?] March. Here we overtook the enemy & had an engagement in which we were driven back, we from thence were marched to Fayettville and from thence back again to near Willmington and from place to place under Genl. Butler (in whom I never had Confidence as an officer) always avoiding an attack until we had the [illegible word] of the Capture of Lord Cornwallis at York - and afterwords until my term of Service expired and I was then discharged - after Serving a tour of Three months."

he hereby relinquishes any claim whatever to a pension or annuity except the present and declares that his name is not on the pension Roll of the agency of any State, and if any he has no knowledge of it. -

And it is here proper to state that in the Tour which I (This applicant) Sirved when at Kings mountain - that though I served but Two months yet I was promised that If I found my own horse and gunn and Serve Two months that it should be considered a tour of Three months & that I should have all the advantages of having served such Time [illegible words] of my County. -

In all my time of Service including all the tours which I have mentioned in this my foregoing [illegible word] amount in all to fifteen months and upwords. [illegible word] what may be considered of in the Tour of Kings mountain as mentioned above -

Interrogatories propounded by the Court and answers

1st Where and in what year where you born?

Answer - I was born in the County of Nottaway in the State of Virginia - In the month of December 2d day in the year 1760! -

2d Have you any record of your age and if so where is it? 

Answer - There is a record of my age now in the possession of my Brother Samuel Evans in Person County in this State. - Recorded in my Fathers family Prayer Book!

3d Where were you living when called into Service, where have you lived Since the Revolutionary War, where do you now live?

Answer - When I was called into Service I lived in this County (Caswell County) and State of North Carolina - I have lived in the said County during, and ever since the Revolutionary War. I now live still in Caswell County where I hope to live so long as I do live

4th How were you called into Service? Were you drafted, did you Volunteer, or were you a Substitute & if a Substitute for whom?

Answer - The first [illegible words] I was drafted in Captain Whites Company as before stated - The next Tour I Substituted myself in place of James Sergant who was drafted; from which place I Voluntarily was transferred to Capt. McMullins Company of Horse. - In the 3d tour I was again drafted in Capt. Colemans Company & In the last Tour I was a Volunteer in Capt. McMullins Company of mounted militia on light Horses - !

5th State the names of som of the Regular officers who were with the troops where you Served, such Continental and militia Regiments as you can recollect and the general circumstances of your Service?

Answer - There were a great many Regular officers who were with the troops where [illegible word] I Served - among them were Capt. Thos. Donotia[?] who was afterwords Major, Colo. Archd[?] Lyttle, Genl. Green, Genl. Gates and Baron De Kalb. The Continental & Militia Regiments & the general circumstances of my service, I have mentioned before in this my declaration.

6th Did you ever receive a Discharge from the Service, and if so by whom was it given & what has become of it?

Answer - I received discharges for every Tour of duty which I served and I received them from the officers of my Companys But from which one I cannot now recollect my discharges I have lost long since not expecting ever to have a use for them -

7th State the names of Persons to whom you are Known in your present neighborhood and who can testify as to your character for varacity and good behaviour, your Services as a Soldier of the Revolution?

Answer - I am Known to almost every man in my County all of whom I presume will testify as to my character for varacity & good behaviour. I will name James Rainey the Chairman of our Court, Capt. John McMullin, Jonathan Starkey, Richerd Mortin [Martin?] & others the most of whom too will prove my services as a Soldier of the Revolution -

Sworn to & subscribed the day & year aforesaid

[illegible word] Paul A. Haralson Clk
Elisha Evans Senr.

2 Jan. 1835.  Elisha Evans was among those purchasing property of Robert Holderness, decd. (see Caswell County Will Book M, p. 451). 

11 Jan. 1839.  Elisha Evans was among those purchasing property of Reubin Oliver, decd. (see Caswell County Will Book N, p. 382). 

1848.  Died (Revolutionary War pension payments ended in 1848).
  His death probably occurred in Caswell County, North Carolina.

21 May 1848.  Elisha Evans died, according to “Rudd Family Bible.”
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Elizabeth (“Betsy”) LEA

April 1843.  She died, as shown by the following North Carolina Supreme Court case summary:

JOHN MILES & AL. vs. JOSEPH ALLEN

A bequest of slaves to A. and “after her death to be equally divided between the heirs of A.’s body,” is a good limitation over the children of A.

Where the person, in possession of this property, after the death of A. claimed it as his own, it was not necessary for the remainder-men to make any demand on him before they commenced their action; and they are entitled to damages, for the detention of the property, from the time of A.’s death.

The cases of Swain v. Rascoe, 3 Ired. 200, and Knight v. Wall, 2 Dev. and Bat. 125, cited and approved.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Law of Caswell County, at the Fall Term, 1845, his Honor Judge Dick presiding.
This was an action of detinue for certain slaves men​tioned in the declaration. The plaintiffs claimed the slaves under a bequest in the will of John Lea, who died in March, 1803, and whose will was admitted to probate at April term, 1803, of Caswell County Court. The be​quest was in the following words: “My will is, that my daughter, Betsey Evans, shall have negro Hannah, during her life-time, and at her death, I leave Hannah and her increase to be equally divided between the heirs of my daughter Betsey's body.[”] Betsey Evans was the wife of Elisha Evans, and the plaintiffs were her children and the representatives of her children. It was proved that more than forty years ago, the slave, Hannah, was delivered by the executors of John Lea to Elisha Evans, husband of Betsey, and that the said Elisha sold the said slave to the defendant, Allen, about forty years since, and that the slaves in controversy are the children of Hannah, born while she was in possession of the defendant. Betsey Evans died in April, 1843, and this action was commenced in May, 1844. A demand of the slaves, before action brought, was proved—and also their value, and the value of their services per annum. The defendant relied on the pleas of the general issue and the statute of limitations, and insisted that the limitation over in the will of John Lea was too remote; secondly, that he was protected by the statute of limitations; and thirdly, that, if the plaintiffs were entitled to recover, they could only claim damages from, the time they made their demand.
But the Court ruled, that the limitation over was good in law, that the statute of limitations did not bar, and that the plaintiffs were entitled to recover damages for the detention of the slaves, from the time of the death of Betsey Evans. Under these instructions the jury found a verdict for the plaintiffs, and judgment being rendered accordingly, the defendant appealed.

Kerr, for the plaintiffs.

Morehead, for the defendant.

Daniel, J. The limitation over, in the bequest in the will of John Lea, of the slave Hannah and her increase, after the death of his daughter, Betsey Evans, "to be equally divided between the heirs of my daughter Betsey's body," is, in law, a good limitation over. That was held by this Court in Swain v. Rascoe, 3 Iredell, 200.

The remainder men had no right to commence their action, until the death of their mother; and three years had not run from that time before they brought their ac​tion; the statute of limitations, therefore, was no bar. As to the damages—it appears, that the defendant held and claimed these slaves as his own property. It was, therefore, not necessary for the plaintiffs to have made any demand, before the commencement of their action. Knight v. Wall, 2 Dev. and Bat. 125; and damages were consequential upon the things sued for, from the com​mencement of the plaintiff's right of action, which was on the death of their mother.

Per Curiam.
Judgment affirmed.
1845.  James Evans & Others vs. Joseph Allen, 1845, Court Case, Caswell County, North Carolina (records filed in Estate Record for Nancy Miles, 1844),
 concerned the offspring of Hanna, a slave left to Betsy Evans by her father.  The case file and associated papers identified the following individuals as the children and/or representatives of the children of Betsy Evans, daughter of John Lea and wife of Elisha Evans:

· James Evans

· William Evans

· Elisha Evans

· Jeremiah Rudd & wife Susannah
· Henry Willis Jr. & wife Elizabeth
· Vincent Griffin & wife Sarah
· John Miles, admin. of Nancy Miles decd.

James and William Evans are presumed to be sons of Betsy and Elisha, and Susannah, Elizabeth, Sarah, and Nancy are presumed to be daughters of the couple.  The Elisha Evans mentioned might be a son, but alternatively might be the father representing one or more deceased children.

[image: image10.png]
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John Sims
The ancestors of John Sims of Albemarle County, Virginia, are currently unknown.  The most likely candidates are George, Edward, or John Sims.  All are sons of William Symes of James City County, Virginia, who died after 1710.
 

John Sims died in Albemarle County, Virginia.  He was not resident in that county prior to 1793.  Personal property tax lists are available beginning in 1782, but his first appearance on those lists occurred in 1793.
  Prior to 1793, he appears to have lived in Hanover County, Virginia.
Up until 1790, his son-in-law, Ison Walton, was living in Hanover County, Virginia.  In 1792, Francis, John Jr., and John all took care of their taxes on 13 June in Hanover County, Virginia.
  So, John was almost certainly living in Hanover County prior to moving to Albemarle County.  
In 1787, the taxman was tasked with visiting all taxpayers (ordinarily, the taxpayers came to the taxman).  On April 20, the taxman visited the households of Edward and Ison Walton (Walton genealogists say that Edward was Ison’s father).  On the same day, he also visited the households of John Sims, a second John Sims, Lipscomb Sims, and William Sims (William paid Lipscomb’s tithe).  So, all were neighbors.  One of the John’s had one slave, three horses, and eleven cattle, while the other only had two horses.
  While it cannot be said for certain, the first one is probably Eunice’s ancestor, given his property and proximity to Ison Walton. 
To muddy the waters, there were two other men named John Sims in Hanover County in 1787.  One paid the tithe for Zephaniah Sims. 
   There is no known connection at this time between Eunice’s John Sims and a Zephaniah Sims, so this John is not likely to be Eunice’s ancestor.  A later descendant may have had the name Zephaniah, which further muddies the water.  
Stirring the waters up a bit more, John and Zephaniah Sims were visited on the same day that Mary Walton was visited. 
  Mary Walton was the widow of John Walton and the sister-in-law of Edward Walton, according to Walton genealogists.  Apparently John and Edward owned land on opposite sides of the Little River.  Eunice’s John is probably the John Sims who witnessed the last will and testament of Edward Walton in 1791.
  According to Paul Arnot, Mary Sims, the daughter of George and Sarah Sims married John Walton in about 1735.  She is known to have had a brother named John.  Except that he was one of four Sims plaintiffs in the case of Detinue against James Sims, nothing is known about her brother John. 
  
The fourth John Sims in Hanover County in 1787 lived near Benjamin and David Sims. 
  There is no known connection between Eunice’s John and anyone named Benjamin or David Sims, so it is unlikely that this John is Eunice’s.

Given the association of Eunice’s John Sims with the Waltons, it is quite possible that he was Mary Walton’s brother.  
Eunice’s John is not the John Sims associated with the Brockman family.  That John also lived in Albemarle County.  He was adjudged a lunatic in October 1797, as the following quote from the order books for the county shows 

John Sims who is supposed to be a lunatic having been examined before Thomas Garth, Charles B. Hinton and Francis Walker three of the gentlemen justices of the peace for this county and found and accordingly reported to be a person of unsound mind.  Whereupon James Sims, Ambrose Brockman and Samuel Brockman as friends to the said John Sims personally appeared in court and undertake the care both of the person and estate of the said John Sims and thereupon gave bond and security accordingly.

This other John Sims is reported to be the son of Capt. William Sims.
  

1782.  Ison Walton, taxpayer with no white males over 16, 5 slaves over 16, 2 horses, etc., 9 cattle (1782 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list).

1783  John Walton, taxpayer, with 1 white male over 21, 5 slaves over 16, 3 horses, etc., 7 cattle (1783 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list).

NB:  Based on the slaves’ names, the person above is Ison Walton (they have the same names as Ison’s slaves did in 1782)
1785.  John Sims, taxpayer, with 2 white males over 21, no white males 16-21, 1 slave over 16, no slaves 12-16, 2 horses, etc., 7 cattle (1785 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list). 

NB:  The person above is probably Eunice’s ancestor John Sims.

1786.  Ison Walton, taxpayer, with 1 white male over 21, no white males 16-21, 2 slaves over 16,  3 slaves 12-16, 3 horses, etc., 5 cattle (1786 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list).

21 Apr. 1786.  John Sims, taxpayer, with 1 white male over 21, no white males 16-21, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 2 horses, etc., no cattle (1786 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list). 

NB:  The person above is probably a son of Eunice’s John Sims.

1786.  John Sims, taxpayer, with 1 white male over 21, 1 white male 16-21, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 4 horses, etc., 7 cattle (1786 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list). 

NB:  The person above is probably Eunice’s ancestor John Sims.

20 Apr. 1787.  John Sims, taxpayer, with 1 white male over 21, no white males 16-21, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 2 horses, etc., no cattle (1787 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list). 

NB:  The person above is probably a son of Eunice’s John Sims.

20 Apr. 1787.  John Sims, taxpayer, with 1 white male over 21, no white males 16-21, no slaves over 16, 1 slave 12-16, 3 horses, etc., 11 cattle (1787 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list). 

NB:  The person above is probably Eunice’s ancestor John Sims.

20 Apr. 1787.  Ison Walton, taxpayer, with 1 white male over 21, no white males 16-21, 2 slaves over 16, 3 slaves 12-16, 2 horses, etc., 6 cattle (1787 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list). 

20 April 1787.  Taxables on Hanover County Tax List “A” visited on 20 April (and hence likely neighbors), arranged alphabetically: 

	John Anthony Jr.
	John Minor Jr.

	Martin Baker
	Lancelot Minor

	Saml Baker
	John Sims

	The Rev. Ro. Barret
	Lipscomb Sims

	James Baughan
	William Sims

	Geo Gentry
	Thomas Swift

	Martin Hawkins
	Richard Thomson

	Mary Hawkins
	Edward Walton

	Charles Hopkins
	Ison Walton

	Nicholas Mills
	


William Sims paid the tax for Lipscomb Sims.

29 Apr. 1788.  Ison Walton, taxpayer, with 1 white male over 16, 2 slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 2 horses, etc. (1788 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list).

25 Apr. 1789.  Ison Walton, taxpayer, with 1 white male over 16, 2 slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 2 horses, etc. (1789 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list).

10 May 1789.  Ison Walton, taxpayer, with 1 white male over 16, 2 slaves over 16, 1 slave 12-16, 1 horse, etc. (1789 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list).

NB: It is not known why there are two sets of tax returns for Ison Walton in 1789.

10 May 1790.   Ison Walton, taxpayer, with 1 white male over 16, 3 slaves over 16, 1 slave 12-16, 1 horse, etc. (1790 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list).

13 Jun 1791.  Francis Sims, taxpayer, with 1 white male over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, no horses, etc. (1791 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list).

NB:  The person above is probably Eunice’s ancestor Francis Sims.

13 Jun 1791.  John Sims Jr., taxpayer, with 1 white male over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 1 horse, etc. (1791 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list). 

NB:  The person above is probably a son of Eunice’s ancestor John Sims.

13 Jun 1791.  John Sims, taxpayer, with 1 white male over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 2 horses, etc. (1791 Hanover County, Virginia, personal property tax list). 

NB:  The person above is probably Eunice’s ancestor John Sims.

17 May 1791. Ison Walton, taxpayer, no white males over 16, 2 slaves over 16, 1 slave 12-16, no horses, etc. (1791 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

2 Apr. 1792.  Ison Walton, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, 3 slaves over 16, 1 slave 12-16, 2 horses, etc. (1792 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

9 May 1793. Frances Sims, taxpayer, no white males over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 1 horse, etc. (1793 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

25 May 1793. John Sims, taxpayer, 2 white males over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 1 horse, etc. (1793 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

20 May 1793. Ison Walton, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, 3 slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 3 horses, etc. (1793 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

17 Mar. 1794. John Sims Jnr., taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, 1 slave over 16, no slaves 12-16, 2 horses, etc. (1794 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

7 Apr. 1794. John Sims Snr., taxpayer, 2 white males over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 2 horses, etc. (1794 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

17 Mar. 1794. Ison Walton, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, 3 slaves over 16, 1 slave 12-16, 3 horses, etc. (1794 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

12 Jun. 1795. John Sims, taxpayer, 2 white males over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 2 horses, etc. (1795 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

17 Mar. 1795. Ison Walton, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, 3 slaves over 16, 1 slave 12-16, 4 horses, etc. (1795 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

19 Mar. 1796.  John Sims, taxpayer, 2 white males over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 3 horses, etc. (1796 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

19 Mar. 1796. Nathaniel Sims, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, no horses, etc. (1796 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

16 Apr. 1796. Frances Sims, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 1 horse, etc. (1796 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

19 Mar. 1796. Ison Walton, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, 4 slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 4 horses, etc. (1796 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

1797.  Francis Sims, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 1 horse, etc. (1797 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List A).

15 Apr. 1797. Nathaniel Sims, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 1 horse, etc. (1797 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

15 Jun. 1797. John Sims, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 1 horse, etc. (1797 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

3 Apr. 1797. Ison Walton, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, 4 slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 4 horses, etc. (1797 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

19 May 1797. Ison Walton Jnr., taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 1 horse, etc. (1797 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

Before 1798.  "John Sims lived in the Buck Mountain neighborhood [of Albemarle County, Virginia], and died in 1798.  His wife's name was Mary, and his children John, Francis, Nathaniel, and a daughter, who was the wife of Ison Walton."

1798.  Francis Sims, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, 1 slave over 16, no slaves 12-16, 1 horse, etc. (1798 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List A).

1798.  Nathaniel Sims, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 1 horse, etc. (1798 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

1798.  Ison Walton Jr., taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, no horses, etc. (1798 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

1798. Ison Walton Sr., taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, 4 slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 4 horses, etc. (1798 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

Early 1798.  Died in Albemarle County, Virginia.

Dec. 1797 – Feb. 1798.  John Sims's last will and testament, Albemarle County, Virginia:

In the name of God amen.  I John Sims of the County of Albemarle being weak in body but of sound and perfect mind and memory blessed be all mighty God for the same do make and publish this to be my last will and testament in manner and form following that is to say first I give and bequeath unto my beloved wife Mary Sims during her natural life all my estate both personal and real I also give unto my said wife one feather bed and furniture and one bell mettle skillet to give to who she pleases and at my wifes death I give unto my grand daughter Mary Thompson Walton one feather bed and furniture I also give and bequeath unto my son in law Ison Walton five shillings I also give and bequeath unto my son Francis Sims fifty acres of land lying In Louisa County I also give and bequeath unto John Sims and my son Francis Sims and my son Nathaniel Sims and my grand daughter Mary Thompson Watts [sic] all the rest of my estate to be equally divided among them and I do hereby appoint my wife Mary Sims executrix and my son Francis Sims executor of this my last will and testament hereby revoking all former wills by me made In witness whereof I have hunto [sic] set my hand and seal this eleventh day of December in the year of our Lord on [sic] thousand seven hundred and ninety seven

John [his x marke] Sims  {seal}

Signed sealed published and declared by the above named John Sims to be his last will and testament in the presence of us who have hereunto subscribed our names as witnesses in the presence of the testator

Pamenus Rogers

Richmond Walton

David [his x marke] Maupine

At Albemarle February Court 1798

This last will and testament of John Sims deceased was produced into Court and proved by the oaths of Richmond Walton and David Maupine witnesses thereto and ordered to be recorded and on the motion of Mary Sims & Francis Sims certificate is granted them for obtaining a probat in [unknown word beginning with d] [unknown word beginning with f - may be second syllable of previous word] of Law on their giving bond and securety as the law directs which was done accordingly

Teste JNicholas CC

24 Feb. 1798 – June 1798.  John Sims Inventory, 24th February 1798.

1 bay mare appraised to £10 one sow and 6 ?uggs £2,,8...£12 8 ,,

1 cow £4,,? one heifer £3 three yearlings £3,,15...£11 5 ,,

a parcel of Joiners tools £6 a ditto of Planters tools £1,,16...7 16 ,,

2 steele crops(?) 12/ a spice morter 6/ two wedges 6/...1 4 ,,

1 Chest of Lumber 4/ one little wheele 6/ a parcel of lumber £1,,4...1 14 ,,

a parcel of barrels 8/ a parcel of bottles and jugs 10/...,, 18 ,,

a parcel of cards 4/ a large chest 12/ a warming pan 2/6...,, 18 6

1 side of sole leather 12/ one pair of stellards(?) 10/... 1 2 ,,

1 Grind stone 12/ a parcel of pewter £2,,14...3 6 ,,

a parcel of earthen ware 10/ a small shot Gun £2,,8...2 18 ,,

A musket shot bag and horn £1,,10...1 10 ,,

2 pot racks 1 shovel and a pair of tongs ... ,, 12 ,,

3 polls and one oven £1..16 three saddles 9/ a parcel of tools 2/ ... 2 7 ,,

one cotton wheele 6/ a parcel of tubs 6/ four pails 5/...,, 17 ,,

1 bed and furniture L6 one hass skillet 9/ one chest & Trunk 19/ ... 7 8 ,,

3 barrels of Tobacco £1,,16 three meal baggs 6/ ... 2 2 ,,

1 Hammer one hatchell Slate and ba??? 4/ ... ,, 4 ,,

1 parcel of bed cloaths £1,,16 a parcel of books £1 ... 2 16 ,,

? looking 3/ one ? Glass 1/ one mug 1/6 ... ,, 5 6

1 Sets of plow Geers 3/ one loom and Geers £1 ... 1 3 ,,

1 drawing knife and sundry things 6/ ... ,, 6 ,,

5 chairs and 1 Table 12/ one candle stick and sundry things 3/ ... ,, 15 ,,

1 drawing knife and comperses 2/ two Gels 4/ 1 Chest lock 2/ ... ,, 8 ,,

£63 27 18

I [sic] Obedience to an order of Court to us directed to appraise the estate of John Sims deceased, We having been first sworn have appraised the estate as above

Thomas Walton

Richmond Walton

David Maupin

At Albemarle June Court 1798

This Inventory and appraisement of the estate of John Sims deceased was produced into Court and ordered to be recorded

Teste

John Nicholas CC

1799.  Francis Simms &c., taxpayer, 2 white males over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 1 horse, etc. (1798 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List A).

1799.  Nathaniel Sims, taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 2 horses, etc. (1798 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

1799.  Ison Walton, taxpayer, 2 white males over 16, 4 slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, 4 horses, etc. (1798 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

1799.  Ison Walton Jr., taxpayer, 1 white male over 16, no slaves over 16, no slaves 12-16, no horses, etc. (1798 Albemarle County, Virginia, personal property tax, List B).

57
Mary
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58
Edward TAYLOR

13 Feb. 1776.  Ann, daughter of Edward Taylor and Judith Coleman, was born.  She was baptized on 20 Nov. 1776 in Goochland County.
  
NB:  Given that Judith Coleman went by that name until she married Thomas Polson in 1798, it is not clear that this child is her daughter Ann.  It is also not clear that the father of her daughter was Edward Taylor.
59
Judith COLEMAN

Was Judith Coleman actually married to Edward Taylor?  If so, why was she known as Judith Coleman and not Judith Taylor?  Judith gave a slave to her daughter and her daughter’s husband on 8 Oct. 1798.  She had married Thomas Polson on 6 Oct. 1798, but she signed the deed of gift as Judith Coleman and made the transfer without any mention of her new husband.  In a curious way, this would seem to strengthen the argument that she had been married to Edward Taylor.  The rights of married women in Virginia to undertake actions concerning property were very circumscribed, as the following indicates:
Married women in Virginia could not:

bring suit, make contracts, execute deed[s], dispose of her estate by will, or administer any property left to her.  These became her husband’s duties.

Of course, Judith and Thomas might have had a formal marriage contract giving her the right to manage her own property as she saw fit.  Nevertheless, the transfer should have at least mentioned her new husband, if only to protect her daughter from having Thomas Polson later come back and claim that the transaction was null and void.  Judith would appear to have been a woman who refused to play by the gender rules of her times in 1798.  Why not before 1798, as well?
6 Oct. 1798.  Judith married Thomas Polson in Albemarle County, Virginia.  She was not his first wife; he had previously married Nelly Ellis in Albemarle County in 1786. 

Circa 1803/04.  Judith and her husband, Thomas Polson, left Virginia and moved to Kentucky.  They settled in Lincoln (now Casey) County, Kentucky.
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60
Peter STEPHENS

1742.  Born in Frederick County, Virginia.
1762-1770.  Probably a surveyor for Lord Fairfax. 

1765.  Married Barbara Willson.
23 Oct. 1766.  Birth of son Lewis.
1768.  Birth of daughter Eleanor (“Nellie”).
About 1770.  Birth of son Robert Willson.
About 1772.  Birth of daughter Jeanetta.
About 1774.  Birth of daughter Elizabeth.
About 1776.  Birth of daughter Mary.
Before August 1783.  Died in Frederick County, Virginia.

61
Barbara WILLSON

1766.  Her father gave Barbara and her husband 254 acres on Opequon Creek in Frederick County, Virginia. 

By Nov. 1777.  Barbara and Peter had separated.

� "The McMahan Family Descendant Chart, Showing early McMahan Families in Cooper and Saline Counties, Missouri," by William Reese Walker, Hot Springs Village, AR, Feb. 1995.


� Virginia Webb Howard, Bryan Station, Heroes and Heroines, Genealogical Heritages Ltd., Lexington, KY, 1932, p. 154.  The “Account Book of ___ Bryan” is part of the Shane Collection, which was partially absorbed by the Draper Collection.


� At least they are not mentioned as being there by 


Thomas Julian Bryant, “Bryant’s Station and its Founder, William Bryant,” Missouri Historical Review, Vol. 4, No. 4, July 1910, pp. 219-237.


Thomas Julian Bryant, “Bryant’s Station and its Founder, William Bryant,” Missouri Historical Review, after 1910, pp. 150-173 (this appears to be an expansion of his previous article).


Thomas Julian Bryant, “Bryant’s Station and its Founder, William Bryant,” Register of the Kentucky Historical Society, Vol. 24, Issue 70, Jan. 1926, pp. 47-58 (this article adds more to his previous two). 


Virginia Webb Howard, Bryan Station, Heroes and Heroines, Genealogical Heritages Ltd., Lexington, KY, 1932.


Stratton O. Hammon, “Several Corrections to the List of Defenders of Bryan’s Station,” Register of the Kentucky Historical Society, Vol. 50, No. 1, Jan. 1952, pp. 35-40.


O. J. Robertson, “Indian Attack Caused Thirsty Siege At Pioneer Fort,” The Kentucky Explorer, Feb. 1991, pp. 37-39.


 “Rebecca Boone Grant, The First White Female to Enter Bryan’s Station,” The Kentucky Explorer, March 1993, pp. 74-75.


� See 


“Pioneers at Fort Boonesborough,” www.rootsweb.ancestry.com/~kycampbe/PioneersFtBoonesborough.htm.


“Boonesborough Pioneers,” www.geni.com/projects/Boonesborough-Pioneers/701. 


“Early Settlers at Boonesborough,” www.fortboonesboroughlivinghistory.org/html/early_settlers.html.  


The third source was found on a site funded by the Fort Boonesborough Foundation.


� An important source of information was an undated packet of McMahan family materials sent by Floreen Levasseur (now deceased), Oxford, MA, to Ruth Canote (now deceased), Kansas City, MO.  The package included 


A photocopy of a handwritten page by Susan Moseley Woodroof (dated 27 Nov. 1914) about the McMahan family in Callaway County, asserting, among other things, that Jesse McMahan was a son of John McMahan and Sallie Boone, daughter of Israel Boone 


Various family group sheets, mainly for the McMahan family in Callaway County


A photocopy of p. 84 of the book Carolina Cradle by Robert W. Ramsey 


Photocopies of pp. 486-491 of the book The Scotch-Irish by Charles A. Hanna 


Photocopies of “James McMahan (1714-1799) Of Early Rowan County, N.C. And Some of His Descendants,” an essay from an unknown source 


Photocopies of photos of the tombstones of James and Susanna McMachan with transcripts of what the tombstones have written on them


“Our McMahans Were From Ayrshire,” by Idros Roberts, 1982


Sundry other materials  


At least in part, the package appears to have originated with Idros Roberts nee Maize (1893-after 1982) in 1982.  Unless otherwise stated, the source of information used was “James McMahan (1714-1799) Of Early Rowan County, N.C. And Some of His Descendants,” one of the items included in this packet.


� Alice H. Boone, Descendants of Israel Boone, 1969, p. 34.


� "The McMahan Family Descendant Chart, Showing early McMahan Families in Cooper and Saline Counties, Missouri," by William Reese Walker, Hot Springs Village, AR, Feb. 1995.


� Alice Boone, More Descendants of Israel Boone, Section D, "More Descendants of Sallie (Boone) McMahan", pp. 522-551.


� Letter from Thomas M.[?] McMahan, Lamine, Cooper County, Missouri, to Lyman C. Draper, Series C, Vol. 29, pp. 30 et seq. [LDS Microfilm 0889111, Item 2].


� Thomas M. McMahan was born on 15 June 1805 in Madison County, KY, the son of Samuel McMahan and grandson of Thomas McMahan, according to William Reese Walker, “The McMahan Family Descendant Chart, Showing early McMahan Families in Cooper and Saline Counties, Missouri,” Hot Springs Village, AR, Feb. 1995, p. 3.  The elder Thomas appears to have been a brother of John McMahan Jr., and each had two children who married children of the other McMahan.


�William Bryan and Robert Rose, A History of the Pioneer Families of Missouri, Bryan, Brand & Co., St, Louis, MO,  1935 reprint of original 1876 book (reprint by Lucas Bros., Columbia, MO) p. 353.


� An enclosure in an undated packet of McMahan family materials sent by Floreen Levasseur (now deceased), Oxford, MA, to Ruth Canote (now deceased), Kansas City, MO.  This enclosure was a photocopy of a handwritten page by Susan Moseley Woodroof (dated 27 Nov. 1914) about the McMahan family in Callaway County, asserting, among other things, that Jesse McMahan was a son of John McMahan and Sallie Boone, daughter of Israel Boone. 


� William Reese Walker, "The McMahan Family Descendant Chart, Showing early McMahan Families in Cooper and Saline Counties, Missouri," Hot Springs Village, AR, Feb. 1995, p. 1.  This chart was a joint effort of a number of McMahan family researchers that was coordinated by William Reese Walker.  The original source of the birthdate is unknown.


� National Society of the Daughters of the American Revolution, "Mrs. Marguerite L. Armentrout Strain" (159312), Lineage Book, Vol. 160, Washington, DC, 1938, p. 105.


� Patricia Law Hatcher, Abstract of Graves of Revolutionary Patriots, Vol. 3, L-R, p. 72.  According to Hatcher, more information can be found in U.S. Senate documents in US Serial Set, Serial 10094, Vol. 5.


� Virgil D. White, Index to Revolutionary War Service Records, Vol. III:  L-R, National Historical Publishing Company, Waynesboro, TN, 1995, p. 1829.


� Madison County, KY, Marriages, Book 1, p. 11 [LDS Microfilm 0183302].


� Jo White Linn, Rowan County, North Carolina, Tax Lists, 1757-1800, Salisbury, NC, 1995, p. 116.


� "Jesse McMahan," History of Saline County Missouri, Missouri Historical Company, St. Louis, 1881, p. 551; and "The McMahan Family Descendant Chart, Showing early McMahan Families in Cooper and Saline Counties, Missouri," by William Reese Walker, Hot Springs Village, AR, Feb. 1995.  


� "Jesse McMahan," History of Saline County Missouri, Missouri Historical Company, St. Louis, 1881, p. 551.  


� "Samuel McMahan," Portrait and Biographical Record of Lafayette and Saline Counties, Missouri, Chapman Bros., Chicago, 1893, p. 359.  It should be noted that the Samuel McMahan about whom the article was written was a grandson of the Samuel McMahan who was killed by Indians.


� "Templeton C. McMahan," Portrait and Biographical Record of Lafayette and Saline Counties, Missouri, Chapman Bros., Chicago, 1893, p. 315-316.


� Cooper County, Mo., Historical Cemetery Society, Cemetery Records of Cooper County, Missouri, Vol. II, p. 53.  The Old Fair Grounds Burial Plot, where Samuel is buried, is now at an unidentified location on the grounds of old St. Joseph's Hospital in Boonville, MO.


� "The McMahan Family Descendant Chart, Showing early McMahan Families in Cooper and Saline Counties, Missouri," by William Reese Walker, Hot Springs Village, AR, Feb. 1995.


� "Marriage Records of Clark County, Kentucky, from 1793 to 1800, inclusive," author not identified, no date, pp. 4, 7, 14 [LDS Microfilm 0156922] (P. 4--David McGee and Elizabeth McMahan were married on 20 Dec. 1794, with Robt. Elikin officiating.  P. 7--Samuel McMahan and Jane Daniel were married on 27 Feb. 1796, with Rice Haggard officiating.  P. 14--William McMahan and Mary McMahan were married on 19 May 1797, with Robert Elkin officiating.); and George F. Doyle, Marriage Bonds of Clark County, Kentucky, from the Formation of the County in 1793 to 1850, Winchester, KY, 1933, pp. 251, 252, 396 [LDS Microfilm 0183194] (P. 251--Elizabeth McMackin, daughter of Thomas McMackin (who provided his consent), and David McGee.  The witness was Elias Barker, and the surety was Robert McGee.  The bond was dated 15 Dec. 1794.  P. 251--Samuel McMahan and Jane Davies, daughter of John Davies (who provided his consent).  The witnesses were John Cro and David French, and the surety was Jesse McMahan.  The bond was dated 25 Feb. 1796.  P. 252--Mary McMahan, daughter of Thomas and Dianah McMahan (who provided their consent), and William McMahan.  The witnesses were William Wilcoxens and Jonathan Hunt, and the surety was Isaac Willcockson.  The bond was dated 19 May 1797.  P. 396--Isaac Wilcockson and Rebecca White, daughter of William and Elizabeth White (who provided their consent).  The witnesses were Thomas Brineager and William Willcockson, and the surety was William McMahan.  The bond was dated 19 May 1797.)


� Jo White Linn, Rowan County, North Carolina, Tax Lists, 1757-1800, Salisbury, NC, 1995, p. 150.


� Photocopy of material from McMahan family Bible.  The photocopy was provided as an enclosure with a letter from Kathaleen Fahey, Marshall, MO, to Ruth Canote, 24 June 1996.  The photocopy is a copy of material that was provided to Kathaleen Fahey as an enclosure with a letter from Weldon F. Bailey, Sweeny, TX, 6 Feb. 1986.  The family Bible was originally the possession of Elizabeth McMahan Huff Flannery, a daughter of John Wesley McMahan and a granddaughter of John and Susan McMahan.


� Madison County, KY, Marriages, Book 1, p. 11 [LDS Microfilm 0183302]. Also, marriage of John McMahan and Susanna McMahan, Marriage Return of John Pace, Madison County, Kentucky [LDS Microfilm 0183304, Item 1, p. 560].  Jesse McMahan was the bondsman for the marriage of John McMahan and Susanna McMahan (McMahan Bond [LDS Microfilm 0183304, Item 2, pp. 28-29]).  Susanna McMahan signed a statement saying that she was old enough to decide for herself to marry John McMahan.  The statement was witnessed by Elizabeth McMahan [LDS Microfilm 0183304, Item 2, p. 30].


� Mr. & Mrs. W.R. Mitzel (Bunceton, MO), Cooper County, Missouri, Cemetery Records, Vol. III, Elizabeth Prather Ellsberry, Chillicothe, MO.  "Thomas McMahan, Jr. Cemetery," p. 61:  McMAHAN--Margaret neé Jones, b. Aug. 24, 1794; d. June 22, 1875; dau. of David Jones, Revolutionary War Soldier, wife of Thomas McMahan, Jr., and McMAHAN--Thomas, Jr., b. May 29, 1786; d. Aug. 14, 1855 (A Masonic Marker) son of Thomas, Sr., & Diana McMahan.


� Fayette County, KY, tax books for 1787-1797 [LDS Microfilm 0007957].


� Mr. & Mrs. W.R. Mitzel (Bunceton, MO), Cooper County, Missouri, Cemetery Records, Vol. III, Elizabeth Prather Ellsberry, Chillicothe, MO.  “James McMahan Family Cemetery or Fray,” pp. 57-58:  McMAHAN--James, d. Oct. 7, 1857; aged 68 yrs., 9 mos.  McMAHAN--Helena, his wife; neé Jones, d. Oct. 27, 1867; aged 68 yrs., 9 mos., 1 da.; dau. of David Jones; wife of James McMahan (stone broken).


� Fayette County, KY, tax books for 1787-1797 [LDS Microfilm 0007957].


� Fayette County, KY, tax books for 1787-1797 [LDS Microfilm 0007957].


� Massie to McMahan, Deed, Clark County, KY, Deed Book 1, pp. 22-23 [LDS Microfilm 0183166, Item 1].


� Fayette County, KY, tax books for 1787-1797 [LDS Microfilm 0007957].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Lister to McMahan, Deed, Clark County, KY, Deed Book 7, pp. 349-350 [LDS Microfilm 0183169, Item 3].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1793-1809 (with gaps) [LDS Microfilm 0007930].


� Clark County, KY, tax rolls, 1810-1824 [LDS Microfilm 0007931].


� Madison County, KY, Deed Book M, pp. 37-39 [LDS Microfilm 0183289, Item 2].


� Howard County, MO, Tax Lists, 1816-1841 [Missouri State Archives Microfilm S-23].


� Howard County, MO, Tax Lists, 1816-1841 [Missouri State Archives Microfilm S-23].


� Mr. & Mrs. W.R. Mitzel, Cemetery Records of Cooper County, Missouri, Vol. III, Elizabeth Prather Ellsberry, Chillicothe, MO, n.d., p. 62 ("Thomas McMahan, Sr. Family Cemetery").  The burial plot on the family farm has been lost.  The family farm was originally about four miles south of Arrow Rock.


� Cooper County, Missouri, Will Book A, pp. 7-10 [LDS Microfilm 0902853].





� Mr. & Mrs. W.R. Mitzel, Cemetery Records of Cooper County, Missouri, Vol. III, Elizebeth Prather Ellsberry, Chillicothe, MO, n.d., p. 62, "Thomas McMahan, Sr. Family Cemetery".


� Mr. & Mrs. W.R. Mitzel, Cemetery Records of Cooper County, Missouri, Vol. III, Elizebeth Prather Ellsberry, Chillicothe, MO, n.d., p. 62, "Thomas McMahan, Sr. Family Cemetery".


� Unless otherwise stated, the information for Peter was taken from Eileen Martin Bone, Shirt-Tail Kin: A Story of the Huff Family and Those Relatives Who Hung Onto Their Shirt-Tails, T.E.A. Printing, Carlyle, IL, 1984, p. 14.


� Soldiers at the Battle of Point Pleasant, www.wvgenweb.org/mason/roster.html; Agnes Huff Cott, “The Huff and Allied Families Christian, Goodman, Bigelow, & Stone,” 1995, p. 10.


� Eileen Martin Bone, Shirt-Tail Kin: A Story of the Huff Family and Those Relatives Who Hung Onto Their Shirt-Tails, T.E.A. Printing, Carlyle, IL, 1984, p. 14.  According to Agnes Huff Cott, “The Huff and Allied Families Christian, Goodman, Bigelow, & Stone,” 1995, p. 10, it was 122 acres.


� Eileen Martin Bone, Shirt-Tail Kin: A Story of the Huff Family and Those Relatives Who Hung Onto Their Shirt-Tails, T.E.A. Printing, Carlyle, IL, 1984, p. 14; Granville W. Hough, Hough and Huff Families of the United States, 1620-1820:  The East, Heritage Books, Bowie, MD, 1993, p. 36.


� Records of Jefferson County, Tennessee, Record Book No. 1 (Court Minutes), 1792-1798, WPA, 13 Aug. 1936, pp. 16-17 [LDS Microfilm 0024712, Item 1].


� Records of Jefferson County, Tennessee, Record Book No. 1 (Court Minutes), 1792-1798, WPA, 13 Aug. 1936, p. 25 [LDS Microfilm 0024712, Item 1].


� Records of Jefferson County, Tennessee, Record Book No. 1 (Court Minutes), 1792-1798, WPA, 13 Aug. 1936, p. 101 [LDS Microfilm 0024712, Item 1].


� Records of Jefferson County, Tennessee, Record Book No. 1 (Court Minutes), 1792-1798, WPA, 13 Aug. 1936, p. 230 [LDS Microfilm 0024712, Item 1].


� Eileen Martin Bone, Shirt-Tail Kin: A Story of the Huff Family and Those Relatives Who Hung Onto Their Shirt-Tails, T.E.A. Printing, Carlyle, IL, 1984, p. 15.
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